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Foreword


We have pleasure in publishing this, the thirty-fourth Journal of the Society, with ten of its twelve articles by society members and at least two more promised for the next.


Our special thanks go to the contributors and to the production team of editor, Dawn Smith, and publishing typist, Noelene Ford. The Society's many volunteers have our sincere appreciation but none more than these two.


The Journal has long provided a useful means of publishing short articles relating to the history of the north of the South Island and thus fulfils an important role in increasing knowledge and appreciation of this extraordinarily diverse and fascinating history, valuable like our wonderful natural environment.


This Journal, No.4 of Vol.6, covers a range of topics but with a special focus on early motoring and includes two notable milestones of this – the first car to reach Lake Rotoiti from Nelson, and an epic six-day trip, the first by car from Nelson to Christchurch. As well, we have from Mike Johnston two typically perceptive reviews of members' books: Jack Boyer's 
'There's Gold in Rocky', and Grahame Anderson's show stopper, 
'The Merchant of the Zeehaen'.



Probably many of us have felt the need to make records of the past for such will help later generations to understand who we were, but more importantly who they are. If you make an oral or written history why not provide a copy for publication or at least for the Society's museum archives? We'd be pleased to hear from you.





Athol Blair


President

May 2001
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Connections: Perrine Moncrieff and Nelson: A summary of the Dr James Jenkins Memorial Lecture, 11 October 1999









Robyn Hodge




In this lecture I examined the work of 
Perrine Moncrieff for the conservation of both nature and culture in Nelson in the 1920s and 1930s. In using the word 'conservation', I gave it the meaning that she herself did; that is, as permanent protection or preservation.


The fact that Perrine vigorously promoted the conservationist cause for nearly sixty years indicates that she was inspired and sustained by powerful influences. I argued that two of these were her Millais family and the current of thought, known as vitalism, that took root in European scientific and philosophical circles about the turn of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.


Perrine's general interest in the natural world and particularly in birds, derived from her uncle, John Guile Millais, who was one of a group of nineteenth-century multi-faceted naturalists. Millais was interested in natural science, art, ornithology, big game hunting and, later, the conservation of large game animals. Perrine inherited aesthetic sensibilities from her grandfather, the painter John Everett Millais. She also possessed a feminist consciousness, perhaps emanating from her grandmother, Euphemia Millais.


Vitalism is a contemporary expression of the ancient belief that the natural world is organic; inhabited by a spirit of life that requires human beings to give intrinsic value to other living species. Perrine, seeing human beings as part of the natural world, consistently advocated holism and ecology. While these ideas are commonplace today, they were less so in the 1920s and 1930s, causing Perrine some ridicule from scientific ornithologists when she objected to experiments which she felt hurt or alarmed birds.


Perrine, her husband Malcolm, and their sons, Alexander and Colin, arrived in Nelson in 1921. From the moment of their arrival Perrine thought Nelson city a beautiful sight, with its dominating wooden cathedral and large gardens. As a bird watcher, she soon found a haven in the 

bird-

life

 of the forests, coasts, and river valleys of Nelson Province. Her firsthand knowledge of these environments led her to conservation, or as she described it, her 'mission in life to save New Zealand's wonderful forest and birds'.


Perrine pursued nature conservation in several ways. She was responsible for the conservation of nature reserves at Lake Rotoroa, Farewell Spit, Abel Tasman National Park, the Maruia Reserves on the road between Reefton and Lewis Pass, and the two Moncrieff Reserves on each side of Tasman Bay. This totals about 50,000 hectares.


Her campaign for the waters of Lake Rotoroa, which began in 1924, was explained in detail as a model for all her crusades. It described her battles with the Nelson Acclimatisation Society (now Fish and Game) who wanted to introduce trout into the lake waters. To protect the trout, Acclimatisation Society members shot shags, which nested at the lake, because black shags were known to predate trout. Perrine also campaigned against poachers. She drew support from the Native Bird Protection Society (now Forest and Bird) which she had joined shortly after its formation in 1923. She also drew support from senior public servants in the Lands Department, which was responsible for scenic reserves, and from the Department of Internal Affairs which administered animal protection legislation. Perrine's vision, energy and perseverance in procuring and maintaining the integrity of all the reserves allows us to enjoy them today. The areas also provide essential habitats for other species.


She wrote articles for the 
Nelson Evening Mail, as it then was called, and books about conservation. Her pocket guide book, 
New Zealand Birds And How To Identify Them, first published in 1925, became increasingly conservationist over its five editions. She formed groups, like the Nelson Bush and Bird Preservation Society, to foster a conservation ethic especially in children.


Perrine also participated in Nelson's cultural world. Amongst her many leadership roles were the formation of the Nelson Girl Guides in 1924, and as President of the Nelson Institute and Museum and of the Nelson Philosophical Society. The latter two were affiliated to the New Zealand Institute, which became the Royal Society of New Zealand in 1933. Perrine took part in such activities as painting, music, and wool craft.








[image: Perrine Moncrieff with Jill Blechynden at the ABC Bookshop, December 1976. (Geoffrey C Wood Collection, Nelson Provincial Museum, 2708 Fr7).]


Perrine Moncrieff with Jill Blechynden at the ABC Bookshop, December 1976. (Geoffrey C Wood Collection, Nelson Provincial Museum, 2708 Fr7).









Apart from the conservation of the natural world, Perrine campaigned for the conservation of historic buildings in Nelson, like the Provincial Government Building and Isel House. Engendered by her first impressions of Nelson's beauty, she had a vision for Nelson city which she tried to promote on many occasions. She saw it as a city of gardens and buildings which would attract residents and tourists by its beauty, culture and heritage. Working with other people of similar beliefs, Perrine Moncrieff's view of Nelson has largely been realised.
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A History of Dentistry in Nelson









Philip Coote










Pre European



The earliest Maori inhabitants of Nelson were affected by caries and periodontal disease. Their relatively soft diet of kumara, yam, fish, birds, especially the moa, and seals, resulted in only moderate tooth wear. Teeth were lost through the ravages of decay, and edentulousness was common over the age of forty.


Around 1500 AD a major change occurred. The climate became colder and the diet, in consequence, much more limited, especially as much of the bird life had already been eaten. Fern root, gritty shellfish and other hard foods came to dominate the Maori diet. Increasing population also strained existing food resources, adding further to the monotony and harshness of the diet. Consequently, tooth wear increased dramatically, while caries virtually disappeared. Teeth, especially those in the back of the mouth, were completely worn out by the time Maoris of the classical period reached the age of twenty. European observers, such as Captain Cook, frequently misjudged the age of Maoris, as their toothless state made them appear to be much older than was really the case.


From the late eighteenth century, however, the pattern began to change once more, as the potato and kumara came to constitute a much greater part of the Maori diet. Tooth wear decreased, but caries and periodontal disease returned. Softer European foods, and sugar, tobacco and alcohol, coupled with a less active and healthy life style were the cause for this further deterioration. In short 'civilisation' had undermined the natural health of the Maori. Apart from chewing of fern roots, which had a natural cleansing effect on the teeth, little is known of early Maori attempts at oral health measures.


The Maori did, however, make good use of herbal remedies, using the extracts from bark, leaves and roots of native plants. The kawakawa, or pepper tree, was used to relieve toothache, as was the matipo or mapau, using a liquid made from boiling the leaves. To ease pain, a decoction of manuka or kanuka leaves was used, and similar use was made of the inner bark of the pukatea, which was steeped in hot water and placed over 

the painful area. The boiled leaves of the koromiko hebe was used for a mouth wash and gargle.








Early Colonial Dentists in Nelson





The Sub-Professional Phase


The migrant ships which brought our forbears to Nelson sometimes carried with them surgeons and clergymen, upon whom often fell the task of relieving pain in its many forms, not the least of which was dental pain. Ships which had fewer than 40 passengers aboard were not required by law to carry a surgeon and, in these cases, the ship's master or his first mate was responsible for such rough dentistry as could be rendered.


Dentistry before the 1880s in Nelson was still at a primitive level of development. In fact dentists were scarcely distinguishable from other artisans and training was by apprenticeship only, as in any other trade. Essentially, dentists extracted teeth, a service also provided by chemists, doctors, blacksmiths and anyone else with strong wrists. No local anaesthetics were available and the only drill in use was operated by hand. Toothache was often treated at home with laudanum or alcohol, and halitosis was a major problem. A little repair work was carried out by the early dentists, but they were mostly tooth-pullers, who also made expensive sets of false teeth from ivory, gold, extracted human teeth or porcelain.


One interesting feature of the early dentists was that they tended to be occupationally versatile. A significant number were also chemists who distributed drugs and pills between extractions. This practice became more difficult following the introduction of registration for both dentists and chemists in 1880. One of the most interesting of this group was JW Tatton.






JW Tatton


John William Tatton was born in Cheshire, England, in 1821, and graduated in medicine at University College Hospital, London. In conjunction with a Dr Streatham he established the great Northern Hospital at King's Cross, London. Owing to ill health he was advised to leave England, and he came out to New Zealand as surgeon on the ship 
Camilla in 1858. He had two children, Cecilia, born in 1858 in the Bay of Biscay, and Arthur William, born in Nelson in February 1861. He began




[image: JW Tatton. (Copy Collection, Nelson Provincial Museum, C2643)]


JW Tatton. (Copy Collection, Nelson Provincial Museum, C2643)





to practise dentistry almost immediately after his arrival in Nelson, as the following notice from the 
Colonist in 1858 announces:




'Dr Tatton begs to announce that he has Opened a Store for the sale of pure and unadulterated drugs and Chemicals. (Direct from the Apothecaries Hall, from which he has made arrangements to receive a constant supply). Dr Tatton has commenced his operations in Practical Dentistry. Artificial teeth supplied, from one to a complete set, on reasonable terms. Stoppings and extractions also performed. Children's teeth regulated. Hours of attendance, 11 am to 4 pm Haven Road.


Having had many years' experience in practical dentistry he intends combining it with the above business. Artificial teeth from one to a complete set on reasonable terms. Stopping and extraction also carried out.'




Tatton had set himself up as a chemist and dentist in a building on Haven Road, near Saltwater Creek Bridge, where he had his druggist store and laboratory. Tatton was one of the first dentists in the country to light his rooms with coal gas, and to use it as a source of energy in manufacturing dentures and bridges. Tatton also succeeded in making his own nitrous oxide, more commonly known as laughing gas, in the 1870s, well before it came into common usage.


From Johnston's 
High Hopes we know that JW Tatton was not only a very versatile dentist and chemist, but that he also involved himself in mining, undertook ore analysis and manufactured pigment from chromite. His eldest son, Arthur, also a dentist, continued in his father's attempts to establish a mining industry based on the Mineral Belt.


He was involved in the Dun Mountain Company and was an advocate for numerous schemes in the town's development. From McAloon's 
Nelson: a regional history we learn that, following the hanging of the Maungatapu murderers in October 1866, Alfred Saunders and John Tatton obtained the heads of the executed men and made plaster casts of them. The pseudo-science of phrenology, whereby it was maintained that personal characteristics could be discerned from the shape of a person's head, was in vogue among the literati of Nelson at that time.


JW Tatton and Son moved to the corner of Selwyn Place and Trafalgar Street and, in 1888, demolished their surgery and built themselves a fine new building, as noted in the 
Colonist of 29 November 1888:







'On account of the increase in business at the dentistry establishment of Messrs Tatton and Son, of Trafalgar Street, these gentlemen have decided to pull down their present building and erect a much larger one. The frontage to Trafalgar Street will be 37 feet, and to Selwyn Place 80 feet for the main building. The lower portion will consist of two large waiting rooms, surgery and workshops and a spacious hall'.




That building still stands today, and is one of the few buildings erected in that era to continue to grace Trafalgar Street.


JW Tatton died in 1891 and we read the following in his obituary in the 
Colonist:




There was scarcely a single mineral discovery, but the late Dr Tatton sought to make it profitable. His services were frequently sought for assays, and his means were always readily devoted to further such discoveries. He was well known throughout the Province, and he was well esteemed in the community'.




Two other dentists practising in Nelson during this early period were a Dr Sinclair, and W Wallis, a surgeon dentist practising in Bridge Street.


The 
Colonist of 16 June 1884 reported that an action was brought by Dr Sinclair against a Mr Crewdson in the Magistrates Court to recover the balance due for a set of artificial teeth. Mr Harley appeared for the plaintiff and Mr Fell for the defendant. The defendant had paid Dr Sinclair three pounds and, the charge for the set being 21 pounds, the plaintiff now claimed 18 pounds. The defendant said that he had permitted the cast of his mouth to be taken, and afterwards had tried the teeth, but had never agreed to give twenty guineas and, indeed, had insisted that he would not. The Doctor said that he never made a set without first agreeing as to the price.


His Worship, having heard all the evidence, said he was of the opinion that the defendant had clearly committed himself to the order and that, as there was nothing to show that the work was not well done, or that the price was extravagant, he would give judgement for the plaintiff, with costs of two pounds eleven shillings.


As to Mr Wallis, we note from the 
Nelson Examiner of 7 December 1859 that he was practising in Bridge Street, next to Aitken's Store:







'Mineral Teeth fitted, from one to a complete set, without the extraction of roots or any painful operation. Decayed teeth filled. Teeth scaled and extracted'.








Semi-Professional Phase


From about 1880 major technological innovations revolutionised dentistry throughout the western world, and these were soon taken advantage of in Nelson. The most important was the introduction of the engine operated foot pedal, which enabled dentists to drill teeth and fill them on a large scale, and surpassed the old hand-held drill. At about the same time a new adjustable dentist chair became available, increasing the range of operations a dentist could perform. Conservative dentistry was made more feasible by the introduction of cheaper and improved filling materials such as guttar percha and various amalgams. Gold, however, continued to be used, as it was a long term material and the old dentists were skilled in its use.


Vulcanite rubber became available at this time, which helped bring about an improvement in denture construction. It was cheaper and lighter as a base for false teeth than the older carved ivory or metal bases. The availability of coal gas at this time, as a source of heat and energy, meant dentists could carry out a greater range of metallurgical work, using gold and other metals, for the construction of complex bridge work. Finally, dentistry benefited greatly from the innovation of nitrous oxide. Direct control of pain was now possible, and the range of operating possibilities greatly increased.


These various technological advances enabled dentists to become more highly skilled operatives, dentistry became more profitable and the esteem in which the profession was held was raised. The first Dental Act was passed in 1880, by which time there were about 50 dentists practising in New Zealand. By 1901 there were 282 registered and by 1905, when the New Zealand Dental Association was founded, there were 464 registered dentists.


Arthur Pitt, Member for Nelson City, was instrumental in promoting an amending Dental Bill in 1904 in the Lower House with TKS Sidey. The purpose of the bill was to provide for registration of the profession and it led to the establishment of a high standard of conduct and professionalism, and greater protection for the public. It introduced matriculation as a 

prerequisite for undertaking the dental course, which was to be at the University of Otago in Dunedin.






The Dental Degree and the Dental Association


The New Zealand Dental Association was formed in 1905, with H Rawson as its first President and Arthur Hoby as secretary. This new Association's aims were to encourage diffusion of knowledge in the dental sciences and to promote the honour and interests of the Dental Profession.


Dunedin, with its association with the Medical School, was chosen as the site for the new Dental School, which opened in 1908. It was initially proposed to grant two types of qualifications in dentistry, a certificate or diploma, and a degree course. Control of dental education was now under one centralised body, the University of New Zealand. The Batchelor of Dental Surgery had been introduced in 1907. Prior to that time, aspiring dentists had had to travel overseas to obtain an acceptable level of training. The journey for training was usually to Philadelphia or Michigan in North America, to Ireland, or to Guy's Hospital in London.


A Nelson Branch of the New Zealand Dental Association appears to have started meeting in May 1925, which is the earliest record that we have from the old minute books. At that first meeting Messrs Squires, W Hoby, Shain, Tatton, Dodson, Parkes and Dodds were present. These meetings were held in the members' homes and, apart from the business of the association, one of the members always presented a scientific paper. These must have been very convivial meetings, as the minutes always concluded with such remarks as 'the business of the meeting being concluded the members spent a social hour with the host in the refectory' or 'this concluded the business of the meeting which adjourned to sup at the President's festive board'.










Improving Techniques and Technology





Anaesthetics and Anaesthesia


In the early days in Nelson, patients were offered general anaesthesia by chloroform and ether, which was dripped onto a face mask. Full dental clearances were carried out in the home, usually on the patient's bed, but frequently on the kitchen table, with poor lighting conditions and no suction. Later, nitrous oxide and oxygen was used, in later years with pentothal induction and endotracheal entubation. Up until the last decade, general anaesthetics administered by trained doctors were carried out 

routinely in the dental surgery. That no longer happens. For local anaesthetics, cocaine was originally made up in test tubes and administered through a syringe. Cocaine tablets were used, dissolved in the test tube, and drawn up in the syringe.


Dentists were trained to make dentures in vulcanite which involved a tricky packing procedure, before steam pressure curing at 300+C in a pressurecooker like system. The dentures were difficult to polish. The early dentists were proficient in the casting of good gold inlays and it is not uncommon to still see such inlays today, made by men such as Bill or Lex Squires.


Before the advent of antibiotics it was essential to complete the operation as quickly as possible, to try and avoid the possibility of osteomyelitis. There was a tendency to leave broken roots behind and, of course, there were no X-rays.


In April 1921 the School Dental Service came into being, with thirty-five women beginning training as School Dental Nurses in Tinakori Road, Wellington, in what is now the Prime Minister's house. Some of you may well remember the trips to the Shelbourne Street dental clinic, commonly called the 'murder house,' where the drill was powered by a foot treadle. Dental nurses are now dental therapists, use a high speed water cooled dental drill and no longer wear a veil.






Nelson Dental Families


Down through the years there have been several families who have contributed to the dental profession in the Province.






Tatton


We know of JW Tatton's exploits in both the dental and mineral fields. His son Arthur William, born in Nelson in 1861, went into practice with his father and there have been subsequent Tattons who have become dentists. Claude Egerton Tatton, Arthur's son, also practised in his grandfather's building in Trafalgar Street, in partnership with a Mr Spiers. He went to the USA and brought back one of the first dental X-ray machines in New Zealand. He contracted TB from a patient and died at at an early age leaving nine children.









Hoby


Arthur Hoby, who graduated in Ireland with an LDS, was the first secretary of the New Zealand Dental Association when it was formed in 1905. GF (George) Hoby practised in Anstice's Buildings in Trafalgar Street. His son GAB (Tony) Hoby came to Nelson from Oarnaru and practised in Anstice's Buildings before moving in with Lex Squires, above Louis Kerr the jeweller's.






Rawson


Henry Freer Rawson came to practise in Nelson between 1862 and 1873, during which time his advertisements appeared in the 
Nelson Examiner and 
The Colonist. His Nelson addresses were variously given as Mr Lockhart, Hardy Street, nearly opposite the Institute, Nile Street East, Trafalgar Square, and Brick House near the Bridge Street Bridge, (formerly Mrs Greenwood's school). He also advised of regular visits to Messrs Laking and Mitton's surgery in Richmond, and Dr Cotterell's surgery in Motueka.


While he was at the Hardy Street address in 1868 Henry Rawson became the talk of the town. It was reported in the 
Nelson Examiner that 'due to an incautious use of spirits of wine by night light' Henry Rawson and John Greenwood caused a major conflagration while employed in some dentistry operations. Lengthy reports appeared in both Nelson papers, describing how several houses were destroyed but, mercifully, the Panama Hotel was saved. The new fire hydrant system was used for the first time, but there was a sorry spectacle of firemen needing to douse the flames with buckets filled from a hose that was too short.


Henry was perhaps better noted for his paintings than his dentistry and was a friend and pupil of John Gully the artist. Both originated in Taranaki and both toured the country with their palettes and water-colour paints. He was a landscape painter and an engraver and one of his paintings, of the Omata Stockade, is in the Taranaki Museum. Henry died prematurely in 1879.


Henry's younger brother, Herbert Pearson Rawson, was our Nelson doctor Dr Dick Rawson's grandfather. Herbert had been apprenticed to study dentistry with Henry, who was 14 years his senior, and he took over his practice in Bolton Street, Wellington, on Henry's death in 1879. Although, like Tatton, he had mining interests in Nelson, Herbert never actually practised here. He was chairman of an optimistic but unsuccessful mining 

enterprise which abandoned attempts to mine gold at Wakamarina Gorge near Canvastown in 1898. The company had the grand title of the Wakamarina and Deep Creek Gold Mining Company. The first President of the New Zealand Dental Association in 1905, he was often referred to as the 'father of dentistry' in New Zealand.






Squires


WW (William) Squires started practice in Louis Kerr's buildings in 1910. He was President of the New Zealand Dental Association in 1926, and was also a Life Member. Following the Murchison earthquake in 1929 he practised for a time at his home, on the corner of Bronte and Shelbourne Streets, while his place of practice was rebuilt.


Alexander (Lex) Squires also practised in Louis Kerr's buildings when he came to work for his father in 1935. He was away during the war years, but recommenced practice in Nelson in 1944. Both men were very skilled and innovative dentists, with Bill being a particularly fine prosthetist and gold worker, while Lex was innovative in the use of the new porcelain techniques and oral surgery. Lex was tragically killed in a car accident when he hit a small bridge on the Stoke Straight on 8 June 1948.






Beresford


RB (Bernie) Beresford graduated from dental school in 1944 and went to work for his father, RW Beresford, in Taumaranui. Following military service during 1945/6, and a year's practice in Taumaranui, he commenced practice in Richmond, Nelson. He served on the NZDA Council for several years, was an examiner for the School Dental Service and was President of the NZDA in 1976. He was made a life member of the Nelson Branch in 1996.






Conclusion


It can be seen that over the years dentists have progressed from lowly artisans to full professional status. This has been achieved by the introduction of major technological innovations that have revolutionised dentistry throughout the western world. There has also been a major input from men and women of vision and clinical excellence, who have served the profession well. In Nelson they have not only served their profession, but they have also had a considerable input into their community.
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The earliest Maori inhabitants of Nelson were affected by caries and periodontal disease. Their relatively soft diet of kumara, yam, fish, birds, especially the moa, and seals, resulted in only moderate tooth wear. Teeth were lost through the ravages of decay, and edentulousness was common over the age of forty.


Around 1500 AD a major change occurred. The climate became colder and the diet, in consequence, much more limited, especially as much of the bird life had already been eaten. Fern root, gritty shellfish and other hard foods came to dominate the Maori diet. Increasing population also strained existing food resources, adding further to the monotony and harshness of the diet. Consequently, tooth wear increased dramatically, while caries virtually disappeared. Teeth, especially those in the back of the mouth, were completely worn out by the time Maoris of the classical period reached the age of twenty. European observers, such as Captain Cook, frequently misjudged the age of Maoris, as their toothless state made them appear to be much older than was really the case.


From the late eighteenth century, however, the pattern began to change once more, as the potato and kumara came to constitute a much greater part of the Maori diet. Tooth wear decreased, but caries and periodontal disease returned. Softer European foods, and sugar, tobacco and alcohol, coupled with a less active and healthy life style were the cause for this further deterioration. In short 'civilisation' had undermined the natural health of the Maori. Apart from chewing of fern roots, which had a natural cleansing effect on the teeth, little is known of early Maori attempts at oral health measures.


The Maori did, however, make good use of herbal remedies, using the extracts from bark, leaves and roots of native plants. The kawakawa, or pepper tree, was used to relieve toothache, as was the matipo or mapau, using a liquid made from boiling the leaves. To ease pain, a decoction of manuka or kanuka leaves was used, and similar use was made of the inner bark of the pukatea, which was steeped in hot water and placed over 

the painful area. The boiled leaves of the koromiko hebe was used for a mouth wash and gargle.
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Early Colonial Dentists in Nelson





The Sub-Professional Phase


The migrant ships which brought our forbears to Nelson sometimes carried with them surgeons and clergymen, upon whom often fell the task of relieving pain in its many forms, not the least of which was dental pain. Ships which had fewer than 40 passengers aboard were not required by law to carry a surgeon and, in these cases, the ship's master or his first mate was responsible for such rough dentistry as could be rendered.


Dentistry before the 1880s in Nelson was still at a primitive level of development. In fact dentists were scarcely distinguishable from other artisans and training was by apprenticeship only, as in any other trade. Essentially, dentists extracted teeth, a service also provided by chemists, doctors, blacksmiths and anyone else with strong wrists. No local anaesthetics were available and the only drill in use was operated by hand. Toothache was often treated at home with laudanum or alcohol, and halitosis was a major problem. A little repair work was carried out by the early dentists, but they were mostly tooth-pullers, who also made expensive sets of false teeth from ivory, gold, extracted human teeth or porcelain.


One interesting feature of the early dentists was that they tended to be occupationally versatile. A significant number were also chemists who distributed drugs and pills between extractions. This practice became more difficult following the introduction of registration for both dentists and chemists in 1880. One of the most interesting of this group was JW Tatton.






JW Tatton


John William Tatton was born in Cheshire, England, in 1821, and graduated in medicine at University College Hospital, London. In conjunction with a Dr Streatham he established the great Northern Hospital at King's Cross, London. Owing to ill health he was advised to leave England, and he came out to New Zealand as surgeon on the ship 
Camilla in 1858. He had two children, Cecilia, born in 1858 in the Bay of Biscay, and Arthur William, born in Nelson in February 1861. He began
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to practise dentistry almost immediately after his arrival in Nelson, as the following notice from the 
Colonist in 1858 announces:




'Dr Tatton begs to announce that he has Opened a Store for the sale of pure and unadulterated drugs and Chemicals. (Direct from the Apothecaries Hall, from which he has made arrangements to receive a constant supply). Dr Tatton has commenced his operations in Practical Dentistry. Artificial teeth supplied, from one to a complete set, on reasonable terms. Stoppings and extractions also performed. Children's teeth regulated. Hours of attendance, 11 am to 4 pm Haven Road.


Having had many years' experience in practical dentistry he intends combining it with the above business. Artificial teeth from one to a complete set on reasonable terms. Stopping and extraction also carried out.'




Tatton had set himself up as a chemist and dentist in a building on Haven Road, near Saltwater Creek Bridge, where he had his druggist store and laboratory. Tatton was one of the first dentists in the country to light his rooms with coal gas, and to use it as a source of energy in manufacturing dentures and bridges. Tatton also succeeded in making his own nitrous oxide, more commonly known as laughing gas, in the 1870s, well before it came into common usage.


From Johnston's 
High Hopes we know that JW Tatton was not only a very versatile dentist and chemist, but that he also involved himself in mining, undertook ore analysis and manufactured pigment from chromite. His eldest son, Arthur, also a dentist, continued in his father's attempts to establish a mining industry based on the Mineral Belt.


He was involved in the Dun Mountain Company and was an advocate for numerous schemes in the town's development. From McAloon's 
Nelson: a regional history we learn that, following the hanging of the Maungatapu murderers in October 1866, Alfred Saunders and John Tatton obtained the heads of the executed men and made plaster casts of them. The pseudo-science of phrenology, whereby it was maintained that personal characteristics could be discerned from the shape of a person's head, was in vogue among the literati of Nelson at that time.


JW Tatton and Son moved to the corner of Selwyn Place and Trafalgar Street and, in 1888, demolished their surgery and built themselves a fine new building, as noted in the 
Colonist of 29 November 1888:







'On account of the increase in business at the dentistry establishment of Messrs Tatton and Son, of Trafalgar Street, these gentlemen have decided to pull down their present building and erect a much larger one. The frontage to Trafalgar Street will be 37 feet, and to Selwyn Place 80 feet for the main building. The lower portion will consist of two large waiting rooms, surgery and workshops and a spacious hall'.




That building still stands today, and is one of the few buildings erected in that era to continue to grace Trafalgar Street.


JW Tatton died in 1891 and we read the following in his obituary in the 
Colonist:




There was scarcely a single mineral discovery, but the late Dr Tatton sought to make it profitable. His services were frequently sought for assays, and his means were always readily devoted to further such discoveries. He was well known throughout the Province, and he was well esteemed in the community'.




Two other dentists practising in Nelson during this early period were a Dr Sinclair, and W Wallis, a surgeon dentist practising in Bridge Street.


The 
Colonist of 16 June 1884 reported that an action was brought by Dr Sinclair against a Mr Crewdson in the Magistrates Court to recover the balance due for a set of artificial teeth. Mr Harley appeared for the plaintiff and Mr Fell for the defendant. The defendant had paid Dr Sinclair three pounds and, the charge for the set being 21 pounds, the plaintiff now claimed 18 pounds. The defendant said that he had permitted the cast of his mouth to be taken, and afterwards had tried the teeth, but had never agreed to give twenty guineas and, indeed, had insisted that he would not. The Doctor said that he never made a set without first agreeing as to the price.


His Worship, having heard all the evidence, said he was of the opinion that the defendant had clearly committed himself to the order and that, as there was nothing to show that the work was not well done, or that the price was extravagant, he would give judgement for the plaintiff, with costs of two pounds eleven shillings.


As to Mr Wallis, we note from the 
Nelson Examiner of 7 December 1859 that he was practising in Bridge Street, next to Aitken's Store:







'Mineral Teeth fitted, from one to a complete set, without the extraction of roots or any painful operation. Decayed teeth filled. Teeth scaled and extracted'.








Semi-Professional Phase


From about 1880 major technological innovations revolutionised dentistry throughout the western world, and these were soon taken advantage of in Nelson. The most important was the introduction of the engine operated foot pedal, which enabled dentists to drill teeth and fill them on a large scale, and surpassed the old hand-held drill. At about the same time a new adjustable dentist chair became available, increasing the range of operations a dentist could perform. Conservative dentistry was made more feasible by the introduction of cheaper and improved filling materials such as guttar percha and various amalgams. Gold, however, continued to be used, as it was a long term material and the old dentists were skilled in its use.


Vulcanite rubber became available at this time, which helped bring about an improvement in denture construction. It was cheaper and lighter as a base for false teeth than the older carved ivory or metal bases. The availability of coal gas at this time, as a source of heat and energy, meant dentists could carry out a greater range of metallurgical work, using gold and other metals, for the construction of complex bridge work. Finally, dentistry benefited greatly from the innovation of nitrous oxide. Direct control of pain was now possible, and the range of operating possibilities greatly increased.


These various technological advances enabled dentists to become more highly skilled operatives, dentistry became more profitable and the esteem in which the profession was held was raised. The first Dental Act was passed in 1880, by which time there were about 50 dentists practising in New Zealand. By 1901 there were 282 registered and by 1905, when the New Zealand Dental Association was founded, there were 464 registered dentists.


Arthur Pitt, Member for Nelson City, was instrumental in promoting an amending Dental Bill in 1904 in the Lower House with TKS Sidey. The purpose of the bill was to provide for registration of the profession and it led to the establishment of a high standard of conduct and professionalism, and greater protection for the public. It introduced matriculation as a 

prerequisite for undertaking the dental course, which was to be at the University of Otago in Dunedin.






The Dental Degree and the Dental Association


The New Zealand Dental Association was formed in 1905, with H Rawson as its first President and Arthur Hoby as secretary. This new Association's aims were to encourage diffusion of knowledge in the dental sciences and to promote the honour and interests of the Dental Profession.


Dunedin, with its association with the Medical School, was chosen as the site for the new Dental School, which opened in 1908. It was initially proposed to grant two types of qualifications in dentistry, a certificate or diploma, and a degree course. Control of dental education was now under one centralised body, the University of New Zealand. The Batchelor of Dental Surgery had been introduced in 1907. Prior to that time, aspiring dentists had had to travel overseas to obtain an acceptable level of training. The journey for training was usually to Philadelphia or Michigan in North America, to Ireland, or to Guy's Hospital in London.


A Nelson Branch of the New Zealand Dental Association appears to have started meeting in May 1925, which is the earliest record that we have from the old minute books. At that first meeting Messrs Squires, W Hoby, Shain, Tatton, Dodson, Parkes and Dodds were present. These meetings were held in the members' homes and, apart from the business of the association, one of the members always presented a scientific paper. These must have been very convivial meetings, as the minutes always concluded with such remarks as 'the business of the meeting being concluded the members spent a social hour with the host in the refectory' or 'this concluded the business of the meeting which adjourned to sup at the President's festive board'.
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The Sub-Professional Phase


The migrant ships which brought our forbears to Nelson sometimes carried with them surgeons and clergymen, upon whom often fell the task of relieving pain in its many forms, not the least of which was dental pain. Ships which had fewer than 40 passengers aboard were not required by law to carry a surgeon and, in these cases, the ship's master or his first mate was responsible for such rough dentistry as could be rendered.


Dentistry before the 1880s in Nelson was still at a primitive level of development. In fact dentists were scarcely distinguishable from other artisans and training was by apprenticeship only, as in any other trade. Essentially, dentists extracted teeth, a service also provided by chemists, doctors, blacksmiths and anyone else with strong wrists. No local anaesthetics were available and the only drill in use was operated by hand. Toothache was often treated at home with laudanum or alcohol, and halitosis was a major problem. A little repair work was carried out by the early dentists, but they were mostly tooth-pullers, who also made expensive sets of false teeth from ivory, gold, extracted human teeth or porcelain.


One interesting feature of the early dentists was that they tended to be occupationally versatile. A significant number were also chemists who distributed drugs and pills between extractions. This practice became more difficult following the introduction of registration for both dentists and chemists in 1880. One of the most interesting of this group was JW Tatton.
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JW Tatton


John William Tatton was born in Cheshire, England, in 1821, and graduated in medicine at University College Hospital, London. In conjunction with a Dr Streatham he established the great Northern Hospital at King's Cross, London. Owing to ill health he was advised to leave England, and he came out to New Zealand as surgeon on the ship 
Camilla in 1858. He had two children, Cecilia, born in 1858 in the Bay of Biscay, and Arthur William, born in Nelson in February 1861. He began
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to practise dentistry almost immediately after his arrival in Nelson, as the following notice from the 
Colonist in 1858 announces:




'Dr Tatton begs to announce that he has Opened a Store for the sale of pure and unadulterated drugs and Chemicals. (Direct from the Apothecaries Hall, from which he has made arrangements to receive a constant supply). Dr Tatton has commenced his operations in Practical Dentistry. Artificial teeth supplied, from one to a complete set, on reasonable terms. Stoppings and extractions also performed. Children's teeth regulated. Hours of attendance, 11 am to 4 pm Haven Road.


Having had many years' experience in practical dentistry he intends combining it with the above business. Artificial teeth from one to a complete set on reasonable terms. Stopping and extraction also carried out.'




Tatton had set himself up as a chemist and dentist in a building on Haven Road, near Saltwater Creek Bridge, where he had his druggist store and laboratory. Tatton was one of the first dentists in the country to light his rooms with coal gas, and to use it as a source of energy in manufacturing dentures and bridges. Tatton also succeeded in making his own nitrous oxide, more commonly known as laughing gas, in the 1870s, well before it came into common usage.


From Johnston's 
High Hopes we know that JW Tatton was not only a very versatile dentist and chemist, but that he also involved himself in mining, undertook ore analysis and manufactured pigment from chromite. His eldest son, Arthur, also a dentist, continued in his father's attempts to establish a mining industry based on the Mineral Belt.


He was involved in the Dun Mountain Company and was an advocate for numerous schemes in the town's development. From McAloon's 
Nelson: a regional history we learn that, following the hanging of the Maungatapu murderers in October 1866, Alfred Saunders and John Tatton obtained the heads of the executed men and made plaster casts of them. The pseudo-science of phrenology, whereby it was maintained that personal characteristics could be discerned from the shape of a person's head, was in vogue among the literati of Nelson at that time.


JW Tatton and Son moved to the corner of Selwyn Place and Trafalgar Street and, in 1888, demolished their surgery and built themselves a fine new building, as noted in the 
Colonist of 29 November 1888:







'On account of the increase in business at the dentistry establishment of Messrs Tatton and Son, of Trafalgar Street, these gentlemen have decided to pull down their present building and erect a much larger one. The frontage to Trafalgar Street will be 37 feet, and to Selwyn Place 80 feet for the main building. The lower portion will consist of two large waiting rooms, surgery and workshops and a spacious hall'.




That building still stands today, and is one of the few buildings erected in that era to continue to grace Trafalgar Street.


JW Tatton died in 1891 and we read the following in his obituary in the 
Colonist:




There was scarcely a single mineral discovery, but the late Dr Tatton sought to make it profitable. His services were frequently sought for assays, and his means were always readily devoted to further such discoveries. He was well known throughout the Province, and he was well esteemed in the community'.




Two other dentists practising in Nelson during this early period were a Dr Sinclair, and W Wallis, a surgeon dentist practising in Bridge Street.


The 
Colonist of 16 June 1884 reported that an action was brought by Dr Sinclair against a Mr Crewdson in the Magistrates Court to recover the balance due for a set of artificial teeth. Mr Harley appeared for the plaintiff and Mr Fell for the defendant. The defendant had paid Dr Sinclair three pounds and, the charge for the set being 21 pounds, the plaintiff now claimed 18 pounds. The defendant said that he had permitted the cast of his mouth to be taken, and afterwards had tried the teeth, but had never agreed to give twenty guineas and, indeed, had insisted that he would not. The Doctor said that he never made a set without first agreeing as to the price.


His Worship, having heard all the evidence, said he was of the opinion that the defendant had clearly committed himself to the order and that, as there was nothing to show that the work was not well done, or that the price was extravagant, he would give judgement for the plaintiff, with costs of two pounds eleven shillings.


As to Mr Wallis, we note from the 
Nelson Examiner of 7 December 1859 that he was practising in Bridge Street, next to Aitken's Store:







'Mineral Teeth fitted, from one to a complete set, without the extraction of roots or any painful operation. Decayed teeth filled. Teeth scaled and extracted'.
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From about 1880 major technological innovations revolutionised dentistry throughout the western world, and these were soon taken advantage of in Nelson. The most important was the introduction of the engine operated foot pedal, which enabled dentists to drill teeth and fill them on a large scale, and surpassed the old hand-held drill. At about the same time a new adjustable dentist chair became available, increasing the range of operations a dentist could perform. Conservative dentistry was made more feasible by the introduction of cheaper and improved filling materials such as guttar percha and various amalgams. Gold, however, continued to be used, as it was a long term material and the old dentists were skilled in its use.


Vulcanite rubber became available at this time, which helped bring about an improvement in denture construction. It was cheaper and lighter as a base for false teeth than the older carved ivory or metal bases. The availability of coal gas at this time, as a source of heat and energy, meant dentists could carry out a greater range of metallurgical work, using gold and other metals, for the construction of complex bridge work. Finally, dentistry benefited greatly from the innovation of nitrous oxide. Direct control of pain was now possible, and the range of operating possibilities greatly increased.


These various technological advances enabled dentists to become more highly skilled operatives, dentistry became more profitable and the esteem in which the profession was held was raised. The first Dental Act was passed in 1880, by which time there were about 50 dentists practising in New Zealand. By 1901 there were 282 registered and by 1905, when the New Zealand Dental Association was founded, there were 464 registered dentists.


Arthur Pitt, Member for Nelson City, was instrumental in promoting an amending Dental Bill in 1904 in the Lower House with TKS Sidey. The purpose of the bill was to provide for registration of the profession and it led to the establishment of a high standard of conduct and professionalism, and greater protection for the public. It introduced matriculation as a 

prerequisite for undertaking the dental course, which was to be at the University of Otago in Dunedin.
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The New Zealand Dental Association was formed in 1905, with H Rawson as its first President and Arthur Hoby as secretary. This new Association's aims were to encourage diffusion of knowledge in the dental sciences and to promote the honour and interests of the Dental Profession.


Dunedin, with its association with the Medical School, was chosen as the site for the new Dental School, which opened in 1908. It was initially proposed to grant two types of qualifications in dentistry, a certificate or diploma, and a degree course. Control of dental education was now under one centralised body, the University of New Zealand. The Batchelor of Dental Surgery had been introduced in 1907. Prior to that time, aspiring dentists had had to travel overseas to obtain an acceptable level of training. The journey for training was usually to Philadelphia or Michigan in North America, to Ireland, or to Guy's Hospital in London.


A Nelson Branch of the New Zealand Dental Association appears to have started meeting in May 1925, which is the earliest record that we have from the old minute books. At that first meeting Messrs Squires, W Hoby, Shain, Tatton, Dodson, Parkes and Dodds were present. These meetings were held in the members' homes and, apart from the business of the association, one of the members always presented a scientific paper. These must have been very convivial meetings, as the minutes always concluded with such remarks as 'the business of the meeting being concluded the members spent a social hour with the host in the refectory' or 'this concluded the business of the meeting which adjourned to sup at the President's festive board'.
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Improving Techniques and Technology





Anaesthetics and Anaesthesia


In the early days in Nelson, patients were offered general anaesthesia by chloroform and ether, which was dripped onto a face mask. Full dental clearances were carried out in the home, usually on the patient's bed, but frequently on the kitchen table, with poor lighting conditions and no suction. Later, nitrous oxide and oxygen was used, in later years with pentothal induction and endotracheal entubation. Up until the last decade, general anaesthetics administered by trained doctors were carried out 

routinely in the dental surgery. That no longer happens. For local anaesthetics, cocaine was originally made up in test tubes and administered through a syringe. Cocaine tablets were used, dissolved in the test tube, and drawn up in the syringe.


Dentists were trained to make dentures in vulcanite which involved a tricky packing procedure, before steam pressure curing at 300+C in a pressurecooker like system. The dentures were difficult to polish. The early dentists were proficient in the casting of good gold inlays and it is not uncommon to still see such inlays today, made by men such as Bill or Lex Squires.


Before the advent of antibiotics it was essential to complete the operation as quickly as possible, to try and avoid the possibility of osteomyelitis. There was a tendency to leave broken roots behind and, of course, there were no X-rays.


In April 1921 the School Dental Service came into being, with thirty-five women beginning training as School Dental Nurses in Tinakori Road, Wellington, in what is now the Prime Minister's house. Some of you may well remember the trips to the Shelbourne Street dental clinic, commonly called the 'murder house,' where the drill was powered by a foot treadle. Dental nurses are now dental therapists, use a high speed water cooled dental drill and no longer wear a veil.






Nelson Dental Families


Down through the years there have been several families who have contributed to the dental profession in the Province.






Tatton


We know of JW Tatton's exploits in both the dental and mineral fields. His son Arthur William, born in Nelson in 1861, went into practice with his father and there have been subsequent Tattons who have become dentists. Claude Egerton Tatton, Arthur's son, also practised in his grandfather's building in Trafalgar Street, in partnership with a Mr Spiers. He went to the USA and brought back one of the first dental X-ray machines in New Zealand. He contracted TB from a patient and died at at an early age leaving nine children.









Hoby


Arthur Hoby, who graduated in Ireland with an LDS, was the first secretary of the New Zealand Dental Association when it was formed in 1905. GF (George) Hoby practised in Anstice's Buildings in Trafalgar Street. His son GAB (Tony) Hoby came to Nelson from Oarnaru and practised in Anstice's Buildings before moving in with Lex Squires, above Louis Kerr the jeweller's.






Rawson


Henry Freer Rawson came to practise in Nelson between 1862 and 1873, during which time his advertisements appeared in the 
Nelson Examiner and 
The Colonist. His Nelson addresses were variously given as Mr Lockhart, Hardy Street, nearly opposite the Institute, Nile Street East, Trafalgar Square, and Brick House near the Bridge Street Bridge, (formerly Mrs Greenwood's school). He also advised of regular visits to Messrs Laking and Mitton's surgery in Richmond, and Dr Cotterell's surgery in Motueka.


While he was at the Hardy Street address in 1868 Henry Rawson became the talk of the town. It was reported in the 
Nelson Examiner that 'due to an incautious use of spirits of wine by night light' Henry Rawson and John Greenwood caused a major conflagration while employed in some dentistry operations. Lengthy reports appeared in both Nelson papers, describing how several houses were destroyed but, mercifully, the Panama Hotel was saved. The new fire hydrant system was used for the first time, but there was a sorry spectacle of firemen needing to douse the flames with buckets filled from a hose that was too short.


Henry was perhaps better noted for his paintings than his dentistry and was a friend and pupil of John Gully the artist. Both originated in Taranaki and both toured the country with their palettes and water-colour paints. He was a landscape painter and an engraver and one of his paintings, of the Omata Stockade, is in the Taranaki Museum. Henry died prematurely in 1879.


Henry's younger brother, Herbert Pearson Rawson, was our Nelson doctor Dr Dick Rawson's grandfather. Herbert had been apprenticed to study dentistry with Henry, who was 14 years his senior, and he took over his practice in Bolton Street, Wellington, on Henry's death in 1879. Although, like Tatton, he had mining interests in Nelson, Herbert never actually practised here. He was chairman of an optimistic but unsuccessful mining 

enterprise which abandoned attempts to mine gold at Wakamarina Gorge near Canvastown in 1898. The company had the grand title of the Wakamarina and Deep Creek Gold Mining Company. The first President of the New Zealand Dental Association in 1905, he was often referred to as the 'father of dentistry' in New Zealand.






Squires


WW (William) Squires started practice in Louis Kerr's buildings in 1910. He was President of the New Zealand Dental Association in 1926, and was also a Life Member. Following the Murchison earthquake in 1929 he practised for a time at his home, on the corner of Bronte and Shelbourne Streets, while his place of practice was rebuilt.


Alexander (Lex) Squires also practised in Louis Kerr's buildings when he came to work for his father in 1935. He was away during the war years, but recommenced practice in Nelson in 1944. Both men were very skilled and innovative dentists, with Bill being a particularly fine prosthetist and gold worker, while Lex was innovative in the use of the new porcelain techniques and oral surgery. Lex was tragically killed in a car accident when he hit a small bridge on the Stoke Straight on 8 June 1948.






Beresford


RB (Bernie) Beresford graduated from dental school in 1944 and went to work for his father, RW Beresford, in Taumaranui. Following military service during 1945/6, and a year's practice in Taumaranui, he commenced practice in Richmond, Nelson. He served on the NZDA Council for several years, was an examiner for the School Dental Service and was President of the NZDA in 1976. He was made a life member of the Nelson Branch in 1996.






Conclusion


It can be seen that over the years dentists have progressed from lowly artisans to full professional status. This has been achieved by the introduction of major technological innovations that have revolutionised dentistry throughout the western world. There has also been a major input from men and women of vision and clinical excellence, who have served the profession well. In Nelson they have not only served their profession, but they have also had a considerable input into their community.
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In the early days in Nelson, patients were offered general anaesthesia by chloroform and ether, which was dripped onto a face mask. Full dental clearances were carried out in the home, usually on the patient's bed, but frequently on the kitchen table, with poor lighting conditions and no suction. Later, nitrous oxide and oxygen was used, in later years with pentothal induction and endotracheal entubation. Up until the last decade, general anaesthetics administered by trained doctors were carried out 

routinely in the dental surgery. That no longer happens. For local anaesthetics, cocaine was originally made up in test tubes and administered through a syringe. Cocaine tablets were used, dissolved in the test tube, and drawn up in the syringe.


Dentists were trained to make dentures in vulcanite which involved a tricky packing procedure, before steam pressure curing at 300+C in a pressurecooker like system. The dentures were difficult to polish. The early dentists were proficient in the casting of good gold inlays and it is not uncommon to still see such inlays today, made by men such as Bill or Lex Squires.


Before the advent of antibiotics it was essential to complete the operation as quickly as possible, to try and avoid the possibility of osteomyelitis. There was a tendency to leave broken roots behind and, of course, there were no X-rays.


In April 1921 the School Dental Service came into being, with thirty-five women beginning training as School Dental Nurses in Tinakori Road, Wellington, in what is now the Prime Minister's house. Some of you may well remember the trips to the Shelbourne Street dental clinic, commonly called the 'murder house,' where the drill was powered by a foot treadle. Dental nurses are now dental therapists, use a high speed water cooled dental drill and no longer wear a veil.
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Nelson Dental Families


Down through the years there have been several families who have contributed to the dental profession in the Province.
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Tatton


We know of JW Tatton's exploits in both the dental and mineral fields. His son Arthur William, born in Nelson in 1861, went into practice with his father and there have been subsequent Tattons who have become dentists. Claude Egerton Tatton, Arthur's son, also practised in his grandfather's building in Trafalgar Street, in partnership with a Mr Spiers. He went to the USA and brought back one of the first dental X-ray machines in New Zealand. He contracted TB from a patient and died at at an early age leaving nine children.
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Hoby


Arthur Hoby, who graduated in Ireland with an LDS, was the first secretary of the New Zealand Dental Association when it was formed in 1905. GF (George) Hoby practised in Anstice's Buildings in Trafalgar Street. His son GAB (Tony) Hoby came to Nelson from Oarnaru and practised in Anstice's Buildings before moving in with Lex Squires, above Louis Kerr the jeweller's.
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Rawson


Henry Freer Rawson came to practise in Nelson between 1862 and 1873, during which time his advertisements appeared in the 
Nelson Examiner and 
The Colonist. His Nelson addresses were variously given as Mr Lockhart, Hardy Street, nearly opposite the Institute, Nile Street East, Trafalgar Square, and Brick House near the Bridge Street Bridge, (formerly Mrs Greenwood's school). He also advised of regular visits to Messrs Laking and Mitton's surgery in Richmond, and Dr Cotterell's surgery in Motueka.


While he was at the Hardy Street address in 1868 Henry Rawson became the talk of the town. It was reported in the 
Nelson Examiner that 'due to an incautious use of spirits of wine by night light' Henry Rawson and John Greenwood caused a major conflagration while employed in some dentistry operations. Lengthy reports appeared in both Nelson papers, describing how several houses were destroyed but, mercifully, the Panama Hotel was saved. The new fire hydrant system was used for the first time, but there was a sorry spectacle of firemen needing to douse the flames with buckets filled from a hose that was too short.


Henry was perhaps better noted for his paintings than his dentistry and was a friend and pupil of John Gully the artist. Both originated in Taranaki and both toured the country with their palettes and water-colour paints. He was a landscape painter and an engraver and one of his paintings, of the Omata Stockade, is in the Taranaki Museum. Henry died prematurely in 1879.


Henry's younger brother, Herbert Pearson Rawson, was our Nelson doctor Dr Dick Rawson's grandfather. Herbert had been apprenticed to study dentistry with Henry, who was 14 years his senior, and he took over his practice in Bolton Street, Wellington, on Henry's death in 1879. Although, like Tatton, he had mining interests in Nelson, Herbert never actually practised here. He was chairman of an optimistic but unsuccessful mining 

enterprise which abandoned attempts to mine gold at Wakamarina Gorge near Canvastown in 1898. The company had the grand title of the Wakamarina and Deep Creek Gold Mining Company. The first President of the New Zealand Dental Association in 1905, he was often referred to as the 'father of dentistry' in New Zealand.
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Squires


WW (William) Squires started practice in Louis Kerr's buildings in 1910. He was President of the New Zealand Dental Association in 1926, and was also a Life Member. Following the Murchison earthquake in 1929 he practised for a time at his home, on the corner of Bronte and Shelbourne Streets, while his place of practice was rebuilt.


Alexander (Lex) Squires also practised in Louis Kerr's buildings when he came to work for his father in 1935. He was away during the war years, but recommenced practice in Nelson in 1944. Both men were very skilled and innovative dentists, with Bill being a particularly fine prosthetist and gold worker, while Lex was innovative in the use of the new porcelain techniques and oral surgery. Lex was tragically killed in a car accident when he hit a small bridge on the Stoke Straight on 8 June 1948.
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Beresford


RB (Bernie) Beresford graduated from dental school in 1944 and went to work for his father, RW Beresford, in Taumaranui. Following military service during 1945/6, and a year's practice in Taumaranui, he commenced practice in Richmond, Nelson. He served on the NZDA Council for several years, was an examiner for the School Dental Service and was President of the NZDA in 1976. He was made a life member of the Nelson Branch in 1996.
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Conclusion


It can be seen that over the years dentists have progressed from lowly artisans to full professional status. This has been achieved by the introduction of major technological innovations that have revolutionised dentistry throughout the western world. There has also been a major input from men and women of vision and clinical excellence, who have served the profession well. In Nelson they have not only served their profession, but they have also had a considerable input into their community.
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The Richmond Brass Band









Pat Win








Jean Sutton, in 
How Richmond Grew, identifies Louis Drager from Liverpool as the organiser and conductor of the first band in Richmond. She records that he arrived in Richmond in 1860, fresh from the goldfields of Victoria, Australia. The 
Nelson Examiner of 25 December 1861 reported that the Richmond band gave its services at the annual public examination of pupils of the Richmond School. The band had contributed much towards the enjoyment of the evening.


Drager was probably the man referred to as 'Louis the German' by Sir David Monro in his diary of 1867. He played the horn at the ball Monro organised at his home, Newstead, to honour a visit by Governor Sir George Grey. At that time Drager was domiciled in Nelson, and he was a member of the Nelson Artillery Band until the late 1870s. He later owned an accommodation house in Wakefield and conducted the Wakefield Brass Band, which had been established in 1859. Drager left Wakefield in 1887 to live in the North Island.


The Volunteer Rifle Company formed at Waimea East in April 1860 included a small drum and fife band. Even though it was seventeen years after the Wairau affray, the public memory of that event was still strong enough for a perception, verging on panic, that the land war in Taranaki might spread to Nelson. This gave a huge impetus to the formation of the Nelson Volunteer Rifle Corps. Originally the province had nine rifle companies, No. 1 and No. 2 companies being in the city, and No. 6 at Waimea East, with Richmond as its centre. A government reorganisation in 1862 reduced the number of companies to six, with No. 1 at Nelson and No. 2 at Waimea East.


The 
Nelson Examiner speaks of the 'excellent bands of Nos.1 and 2 companies' at the public ceremony in Nelson in June 1863 to celebrate the wedding of the Prince of Wales. These were both drum and fife bands.


The City and Volunteer Band, which became the Nelson Brass Band, entertained in the Long Room of the Star and Garter Hotel at Richmond on 12 December 1860. Its conductor, Conradina A Sandres, was later known as Conrad Sanders. In 1862 it performed at Mrs Kite's Red Horse 
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Inn at Richmond for a Harvest Home with supper on the table at seven o'clock precisely, tickets three shillings each.


The Waimea East celebration of the 25th anniversary of the settlement of Nelson, delayed for a month until the harvest was finished, was held at Richmond on 3 March 1867. After a procession headed by the Wakefield Brass Band, the main speaker at the formalities was Edwin Humphreys, an old soldier and Wesleyan lay-preacher, who had arrived in Nelson in 1842 on the barque 
Sir Charles Forbes. Music for dancing in the evening was provided by the German Stringed Band from Nelson.


On 1 December 1879 a Volunteer Review was held at Richmond to raise funds for the Richmond Fire Brigade's new engine. This was reported to have two jets capable of throwing water onto any building in the township. Music was provided by the Nelson Battalion Band and Mr Naylor's Stoke School drum and fife band, and the day raised £240.




The Colonist of 24 October 1907 records how the Nelson Garrison Band, while en route to Spring Grove to perform at a benefit concert for the Waimea Rifles, played a selection at Richmond, probably at the railway station. This was reported as having been much appreciated, with several members of the Richmond Brass Band being present. The report goes on to say that James Cameron, the local policeman, was the Richmond Band's conductor and that it was making good progress. From this it appears that the band was newly established.


In January 1908 the band attended the Richmond Sports and Flower Show at Richmond Park. Jean Sutton records that Mr Meyer resigned as band secretary on 12 September 1909 as he was leaving the district, and that band practices were held in the Institute, which was rented for £5 per annum. This would have been the old Mechanics' Institute building, a small shed which, from earliest days, stood behind the present Town Hall. It was destroyed by fire in recent times, with the loss of equipment owned by the Richmond and District Highland Pipe Band.


JW Henderson, the station-master, was band conductor in 1910. In that year the band purchased a full set of new B Grade Benson instruments from Begg and Co. of Dunedin. These were displayed in WR (Billy) May's shop window on the south west corner of Queen Street and Gladstone Road.





Later that year AJ (Alf) Berryman, who had the reputation of being one of the finest cornet players in New Zealand, became the conductor. His brother, Harry, was the conductor of the Nelson Garrison Band, in which Alf also played. Prior to his Richmond appointment, he had been the conductor of the Nelson Citizens' Band during the nine month absence of its conductor. It was hoped that under Berryman the Richmond combination would become a first class one. New players had joined and the band was expected to soon reach full strength. Fund-raising from dances (gents 2/6, ladies 1/-) and a revue, were reported.


In 1911 the band was still very active, being advertised to play at May's Corner on 26 October at 8 pm and there after on the second Saturday of each month. In November George Clifton Mockler, who had returned to conduct the Nelson Citizens' Band, was appointed as conductor of the Richmond Band. On Boxing Day it performed at the Waimea South sports at Wakefield, which were attended by 1,300 people.


By now the band had reached an obvious level of competency and it performed at the 20th Nelson A & P Show in 1912. Also present was the band of the Stoke Industrial School, which played under its conductor, Mr Murphy.


At the AGM, held in the Institute in December 1912, there was a fair attendance with Mr Buttle in the chair. The band had 21 playing members, but practices had not been too satisfactory and the baton had changed three times during the year. The band had reduced its debt on the new instruments by £52 but still owed Beggs £158/5/-. There was a credit balance in the accounts of £8/15/10. Assets, allowing for depreciation, exceeded the band's liabilities of £243/13/4.


Officers elected were: Patroness, Mrs Saywell (re-elected); President, Mr Buttle; Vice-Presidents, Messrs James Hunt, WH May, Wm Coleman Snr, WE Wilkes, Boyce, Thomas, Glen, Hale, Barham, Hayes, Croucher, T Bell, Kidd, Papps, Molesworth and Heath; Secretary, Mr KL Hammond; Treasurer, James Hunt; Auditor, AH Hale; Sergeant, AT White; Corporal, P Sutton; Lance-Corporal, P Read and Librarian, K Bird. The band committee comprised Bandsmen P Sutton, H Sutton, P Beach, CL Best, Bashford, T White and G Wilkes.


A request by the Collingwood Athletic Club for terms to play at their sports on New Year's Day was turned down, owing to a prior engagement. Also mentioned in the report were Councillors WM Coleman, Joshua F Papps and James Hunt. Vice-president Croucher was probably John M 

Croucher, Richmond's mayor and a flour miller and baker. Joshua Papps, a coach builder of Queen Street, played both the trombone and the organ. Mrs Ellen Saywell was the widow of Charles Saywell, a prominent businessman whose family arrived in New Zealand in 1840 and settled in Richmond in 1856. He continued the family business of building and undertaking. He was a sometime member of the Richmond Road Board and the Nelson Education Board.


In 1905 Band Sergeant AT White had been a lieutenant in the Waimea Rifles and headmaster of the Spring Grove School. William R May's business interests were wide. In 1911 he took over a shop originally established by William Dartnall in 1857 and later owned by Hodder and Bryant. The sign giving the date of establishment has been removed from the building only in recent times. William Wanstead, a Richmond plumber, gas-fitter and painter, was a past secretary of both the Richmond Fire Brigade and the Stoke Volunteer Rifles.


The 1912 AGM is the last recorded news item about the Richmond Band. The loss of manpower associated with the Great War may have hastened its demise. The National Reserve Band, the renamed Nelson Citizen's Band, led the parade at the 1919 Richmond peace celebrations.


A photograph owned by Mrs KR Scott of Parere Street, Nelson, taken about 1912, shows the band in uniform wearing peaked caps. The band is flanked by its officials: WH May and AH Hale. The patroness, Mrs Saywell, sits next to Constable James Cameron, the conductor, who is wearing a police decoration. Bandsmen identified are: Percy Sutton, William Wanstall, Beach, W Strawbridge, Beach (2), Sutton, Joshua Papps, Mr Sutton, Godfrey Coleman, Billy Max, Harry G Kingsland, Graham Win and Jim Hunt. Seven remain unidentified.


Those known are Godfrey Coleman, who played club rugby at Richmond as a half-back, and who lost his right forearm in an accident. In later life he was a storeman at the Anchor Foundry at Port Nelson. Harry Kingsland is remembered for his pioneer work in introducing pinus radiata forestry to New Zealand. He later conducted the Wakefield Band and was string bass player in the Clarrie Lee Orchestra, popular in Nelson during the 1930s and 40s. Graham Win was Joshua Papps' apprentice and nephew of his second wife.
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[The Richmond Brass Band]






Jean Sutton, in 
How Richmond Grew, identifies Louis Drager from Liverpool as the organiser and conductor of the first band in Richmond. She records that he arrived in Richmond in 1860, fresh from the goldfields of Victoria, Australia. The 
Nelson Examiner of 25 December 1861 reported that the Richmond band gave its services at the annual public examination of pupils of the Richmond School. The band had contributed much towards the enjoyment of the evening.


Drager was probably the man referred to as 'Louis the German' by Sir David Monro in his diary of 1867. He played the horn at the ball Monro organised at his home, Newstead, to honour a visit by Governor Sir George Grey. At that time Drager was domiciled in Nelson, and he was a member of the Nelson Artillery Band until the late 1870s. He later owned an accommodation house in Wakefield and conducted the Wakefield Brass Band, which had been established in 1859. Drager left Wakefield in 1887 to live in the North Island.


The Volunteer Rifle Company formed at Waimea East in April 1860 included a small drum and fife band. Even though it was seventeen years after the Wairau affray, the public memory of that event was still strong enough for a perception, verging on panic, that the land war in Taranaki might spread to Nelson. This gave a huge impetus to the formation of the Nelson Volunteer Rifle Corps. Originally the province had nine rifle companies, No. 1 and No. 2 companies being in the city, and No. 6 at Waimea East, with Richmond as its centre. A government reorganisation in 1862 reduced the number of companies to six, with No. 1 at Nelson and No. 2 at Waimea East.


The 
Nelson Examiner speaks of the 'excellent bands of Nos.1 and 2 companies' at the public ceremony in Nelson in June 1863 to celebrate the wedding of the Prince of Wales. These were both drum and fife bands.


The City and Volunteer Band, which became the Nelson Brass Band, entertained in the Long Room of the Star and Garter Hotel at Richmond on 12 December 1860. Its conductor, Conradina A Sandres, was later known as Conrad Sanders. In 1862 it performed at Mrs Kite's Red Horse 
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Inn at Richmond for a Harvest Home with supper on the table at seven o'clock precisely, tickets three shillings each.


The Waimea East celebration of the 25th anniversary of the settlement of Nelson, delayed for a month until the harvest was finished, was held at Richmond on 3 March 1867. After a procession headed by the Wakefield Brass Band, the main speaker at the formalities was Edwin Humphreys, an old soldier and Wesleyan lay-preacher, who had arrived in Nelson in 1842 on the barque 
Sir Charles Forbes. Music for dancing in the evening was provided by the German Stringed Band from Nelson.


On 1 December 1879 a Volunteer Review was held at Richmond to raise funds for the Richmond Fire Brigade's new engine. This was reported to have two jets capable of throwing water onto any building in the township. Music was provided by the Nelson Battalion Band and Mr Naylor's Stoke School drum and fife band, and the day raised £240.




The Colonist of 24 October 1907 records how the Nelson Garrison Band, while en route to Spring Grove to perform at a benefit concert for the Waimea Rifles, played a selection at Richmond, probably at the railway station. This was reported as having been much appreciated, with several members of the Richmond Brass Band being present. The report goes on to say that James Cameron, the local policeman, was the Richmond Band's conductor and that it was making good progress. From this it appears that the band was newly established.


In January 1908 the band attended the Richmond Sports and Flower Show at Richmond Park. Jean Sutton records that Mr Meyer resigned as band secretary on 12 September 1909 as he was leaving the district, and that band practices were held in the Institute, which was rented for £5 per annum. This would have been the old Mechanics' Institute building, a small shed which, from earliest days, stood behind the present Town Hall. It was destroyed by fire in recent times, with the loss of equipment owned by the Richmond and District Highland Pipe Band.


JW Henderson, the station-master, was band conductor in 1910. In that year the band purchased a full set of new B Grade Benson instruments from Begg and Co. of Dunedin. These were displayed in WR (Billy) May's shop window on the south west corner of Queen Street and Gladstone Road.





Later that year AJ (Alf) Berryman, who had the reputation of being one of the finest cornet players in New Zealand, became the conductor. His brother, Harry, was the conductor of the Nelson Garrison Band, in which Alf also played. Prior to his Richmond appointment, he had been the conductor of the Nelson Citizens' Band during the nine month absence of its conductor. It was hoped that under Berryman the Richmond combination would become a first class one. New players had joined and the band was expected to soon reach full strength. Fund-raising from dances (gents 2/6, ladies 1/-) and a revue, were reported.


In 1911 the band was still very active, being advertised to play at May's Corner on 26 October at 8 pm and there after on the second Saturday of each month. In November George Clifton Mockler, who had returned to conduct the Nelson Citizens' Band, was appointed as conductor of the Richmond Band. On Boxing Day it performed at the Waimea South sports at Wakefield, which were attended by 1,300 people.


By now the band had reached an obvious level of competency and it performed at the 20th Nelson A & P Show in 1912. Also present was the band of the Stoke Industrial School, which played under its conductor, Mr Murphy.


At the AGM, held in the Institute in December 1912, there was a fair attendance with Mr Buttle in the chair. The band had 21 playing members, but practices had not been too satisfactory and the baton had changed three times during the year. The band had reduced its debt on the new instruments by £52 but still owed Beggs £158/5/-. There was a credit balance in the accounts of £8/15/10. Assets, allowing for depreciation, exceeded the band's liabilities of £243/13/4.


Officers elected were: Patroness, Mrs Saywell (re-elected); President, Mr Buttle; Vice-Presidents, Messrs James Hunt, WH May, Wm Coleman Snr, WE Wilkes, Boyce, Thomas, Glen, Hale, Barham, Hayes, Croucher, T Bell, Kidd, Papps, Molesworth and Heath; Secretary, Mr KL Hammond; Treasurer, James Hunt; Auditor, AH Hale; Sergeant, AT White; Corporal, P Sutton; Lance-Corporal, P Read and Librarian, K Bird. The band committee comprised Bandsmen P Sutton, H Sutton, P Beach, CL Best, Bashford, T White and G Wilkes.


A request by the Collingwood Athletic Club for terms to play at their sports on New Year's Day was turned down, owing to a prior engagement. Also mentioned in the report were Councillors WM Coleman, Joshua F Papps and James Hunt. Vice-president Croucher was probably John M 

Croucher, Richmond's mayor and a flour miller and baker. Joshua Papps, a coach builder of Queen Street, played both the trombone and the organ. Mrs Ellen Saywell was the widow of Charles Saywell, a prominent businessman whose family arrived in New Zealand in 1840 and settled in Richmond in 1856. He continued the family business of building and undertaking. He was a sometime member of the Richmond Road Board and the Nelson Education Board.


In 1905 Band Sergeant AT White had been a lieutenant in the Waimea Rifles and headmaster of the Spring Grove School. William R May's business interests were wide. In 1911 he took over a shop originally established by William Dartnall in 1857 and later owned by Hodder and Bryant. The sign giving the date of establishment has been removed from the building only in recent times. William Wanstead, a Richmond plumber, gas-fitter and painter, was a past secretary of both the Richmond Fire Brigade and the Stoke Volunteer Rifles.


The 1912 AGM is the last recorded news item about the Richmond Band. The loss of manpower associated with the Great War may have hastened its demise. The National Reserve Band, the renamed Nelson Citizen's Band, led the parade at the 1919 Richmond peace celebrations.


A photograph owned by Mrs KR Scott of Parere Street, Nelson, taken about 1912, shows the band in uniform wearing peaked caps. The band is flanked by its officials: WH May and AH Hale. The patroness, Mrs Saywell, sits next to Constable James Cameron, the conductor, who is wearing a police decoration. Bandsmen identified are: Percy Sutton, William Wanstall, Beach, W Strawbridge, Beach (2), Sutton, Joshua Papps, Mr Sutton, Godfrey Coleman, Billy Max, Harry G Kingsland, Graham Win and Jim Hunt. Seven remain unidentified.


Those known are Godfrey Coleman, who played club rugby at Richmond as a half-back, and who lost his right forearm in an accident. In later life he was a storeman at the Anchor Foundry at Port Nelson. Harry Kingsland is remembered for his pioneer work in introducing pinus radiata forestry to New Zealand. He later conducted the Wakefield Band and was string bass player in the Clarrie Lee Orchestra, popular in Nelson during the 1930s and 40s. Graham Win was Joshua Papps' apprentice and nephew of his second wife.
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In 1962 the Baigent name was 
Timber around the Nelson area. At that time the extensive planting in Pigeon Valley came on stream, and a decision was made to close several small mills and build a large, modern complex just north of Wakefield, near the Wai-iti river. Land was purchased at the end of Bird Lane and the name Brookside was chosen for the mill. The site was on land which had been owned by the pioneer Joshua Bird in 1852 and his home, named Brookside, stood on the eastern part of the land, across the main road, until the 1960s.


The four small mills which closed were Kainui, manager Percy Symes, 88 Valley, manager Cyril Riddle, Quail Valley (or Belgrove), manager Les Coleman and Redwood Valley, manager Charlie Benseman.


Brookside Mill opened in 1962 with Noel Jarrett as manager, and functioned for about 10 years with a few basic operations. There was a log edger with two saws, from which slabs went to the breast bench, which had a single saw. Other timber went on a chain to a frame saw, with approximately 18 saws with an up-and-down movement, a vertical saw. Good boards then went to the main chain, while timber with bark progressed to the board edger, which had two saws for trimming.






Staff


As the mill expanded so did the staff, from 17 in 1962 to around 50 in 1982. Noel Jarrett was the manager until 1978, after which he was the Production Manager in the Nelson office. The foreman, Cyril Riddle, then became the key man and he transferred to the newly opened modern and partly computerised Eves Valley Mill when Brookside closed. Charlie Benseman was the yardman, Trevor Barton operated the treatment plant and Syd Smith was the foreman in charge of Posts and Poles.






The burner


Local macrocarpa was used for drying racks and the huge, cone-shaped burner was 60 foot (18m) high on a 60 foot base. Refuse was fed by chain from the mill into the burner through an opening three-quarters of the way up. It operated all the time, helped by a forced draught. The fire had been shut down by 1976 because the smoke was considered a nuisance.





Sawdust was then sent to Pigeon Valley, while slabs and dockings were fed into the chipper.






Expansion in the 1970s


The board edger was replaced by a breast bench, with timber free of bark going directly from the frame to the sorting chain. Packets of 600 super feet of timber were loaded onto railway irons, a tractor and trailer unit was backed under and the timber was then tipped onto the trailer rollers and taken to appropriate areas for filleting (stacking with spacers for drying). Depending on the weather, drying the 10 ft (3m) covered stacks could take from three weeks to three months. The bundles of timber 2 ft by 2 ft (600mm by 600mm), were then sorted for market or treatment.






Markets


Timber was sold locally or trucked to the port of Nelson for dispatch to Petone, Sydney or, in squares of 6–12 inches (150mm-300mm), to Japan.






Treatment




	1.
	Tanalised: The tanalith was brought by truck from Christchurch in drums. A large cylinder containing timber on trolleys at the end of Bird Lane was filled with tanalising liquid and then pressurised until treatment was completed. The liquid was then pumped out to a storage tank, while the trolleys of timber were pulled out and drained on a concrete pad. The timber was then filleted and dried. This treatment extended the life of timber and posts, and prevented borer or marine life infestation.


	2.
	Boric treatment: Near the tanalith plant was a tank half filled with water to which boron was added. The temperature in the tank was raised to below boiling point by diesel-heated hot-air pipes. Timber was lowered into it by winch for between 5 and 10 minutes, until there was sufficient penetration, and then lifted out and drained. The packets of timber were then placed in a sealed bay so that diffusion (absorption) could take place. The process took eight weeks to complete, and borer-proofed the timber which was used for building purposes.







Posts and poles


This operation processed smaller logs and the tops of logs, which were cut to length and then de-barked. They were sprayed for anti-sap stain and fungi prevention, and then dried and tanalised for uses which included telegraph poles, marine piles and for haysheds.


Shorter lengths went to the sorting chain, where four men sorted for length and diameter. At this stage some were pointed and some were sawn into half-posts. They were then bundled and tanalised for sale and used for 

farm fences, grape posts, deer fence posts and kiwi fruit stays. The latter would be the smaller diameter posts.






Planer


A planer operated in its own shed where dried timber was dressed for orders, either straight or to building requirements, such as architraves. This mill could cope with dressing timber up to 12 inches (300mm) wide.






Chipper


This disposed of waste timber up to 8 by 6 inches (200mm by 150mm). It was quite large for the time, being fed from the chain with feed rollers. The chips were then belt-fed to a hopper which opened to fill the bins on the chip liner trucks underneath. The chips were exported from Port Nelson to Japan.


The land where Brookside Mill operated until 1982 is still owned by Carter Holt Harvey, which owns Eves Valley Mill.
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In 1962 the Baigent name was 
Timber around the Nelson area. At that time the extensive planting in Pigeon Valley came on stream, and a decision was made to close several small mills and build a large, modern complex just north of Wakefield, near the Wai-iti river. Land was purchased at the end of Bird Lane and the name Brookside was chosen for the mill. The site was on land which had been owned by the pioneer Joshua Bird in 1852 and his home, named Brookside, stood on the eastern part of the land, across the main road, until the 1960s.


The four small mills which closed were Kainui, manager Percy Symes, 88 Valley, manager Cyril Riddle, Quail Valley (or Belgrove), manager Les Coleman and Redwood Valley, manager Charlie Benseman.


Brookside Mill opened in 1962 with Noel Jarrett as manager, and functioned for about 10 years with a few basic operations. There was a log edger with two saws, from which slabs went to the breast bench, which had a single saw. Other timber went on a chain to a frame saw, with approximately 18 saws with an up-and-down movement, a vertical saw. Good boards then went to the main chain, while timber with bark progressed to the board edger, which had two saws for trimming.
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Staff


As the mill expanded so did the staff, from 17 in 1962 to around 50 in 1982. Noel Jarrett was the manager until 1978, after which he was the Production Manager in the Nelson office. The foreman, Cyril Riddle, then became the key man and he transferred to the newly opened modern and partly computerised Eves Valley Mill when Brookside closed. Charlie Benseman was the yardman, Trevor Barton operated the treatment plant and Syd Smith was the foreman in charge of Posts and Poles.
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The burner


Local macrocarpa was used for drying racks and the huge, cone-shaped burner was 60 foot (18m) high on a 60 foot base. Refuse was fed by chain from the mill into the burner through an opening three-quarters of the way up. It operated all the time, helped by a forced draught. The fire had been shut down by 1976 because the smoke was considered a nuisance.





Sawdust was then sent to Pigeon Valley, while slabs and dockings were fed into the chipper.
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Expansion in the 1970s


The board edger was replaced by a breast bench, with timber free of bark going directly from the frame to the sorting chain. Packets of 600 super feet of timber were loaded onto railway irons, a tractor and trailer unit was backed under and the timber was then tipped onto the trailer rollers and taken to appropriate areas for filleting (stacking with spacers for drying). Depending on the weather, drying the 10 ft (3m) covered stacks could take from three weeks to three months. The bundles of timber 2 ft by 2 ft (600mm by 600mm), were then sorted for market or treatment.
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Markets


Timber was sold locally or trucked to the port of Nelson for dispatch to Petone, Sydney or, in squares of 6–12 inches (150mm-300mm), to Japan.
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Treatment




	1.
	Tanalised: The tanalith was brought by truck from Christchurch in drums. A large cylinder containing timber on trolleys at the end of Bird Lane was filled with tanalising liquid and then pressurised until treatment was completed. The liquid was then pumped out to a storage tank, while the trolleys of timber were pulled out and drained on a concrete pad. The timber was then filleted and dried. This treatment extended the life of timber and posts, and prevented borer or marine life infestation.


	2.
	Boric treatment: Near the tanalith plant was a tank half filled with water to which boron was added. The temperature in the tank was raised to below boiling point by diesel-heated hot-air pipes. Timber was lowered into it by winch for between 5 and 10 minutes, until there was sufficient penetration, and then lifted out and drained. The packets of timber were then placed in a sealed bay so that diffusion (absorption) could take place. The process took eight weeks to complete, and borer-proofed the timber which was used for building purposes.
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Posts and poles


This operation processed smaller logs and the tops of logs, which were cut to length and then de-barked. They were sprayed for anti-sap stain and fungi prevention, and then dried and tanalised for uses which included telegraph poles, marine piles and for haysheds.


Shorter lengths went to the sorting chain, where four men sorted for length and diameter. At this stage some were pointed and some were sawn into half-posts. They were then bundled and tanalised for sale and used for 

farm fences, grape posts, deer fence posts and kiwi fruit stays. The latter would be the smaller diameter posts.
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Planer


A planer operated in its own shed where dried timber was dressed for orders, either straight or to building requirements, such as architraves. This mill could cope with dressing timber up to 12 inches (300mm) wide.
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Chipper


This disposed of waste timber up to 8 by 6 inches (200mm by 150mm). It was quite large for the time, being fed from the chain with feed rollers. The chips were then belt-fed to a hopper which opened to fill the bins on the chip liner trucks underneath. The chips were exported from Port Nelson to Japan.


The land where Brookside Mill operated until 1982 is still owned by Carter Holt Harvey, which owns Eves Valley Mill.










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Nelson Historical Society Journal, Volume 6, Issue 4, 2001

The Nelson Touch












The Nelson Touch









Allan Turley




The first Europeans arrived in Nelson on 2 November 1841. The New Zealand Company expeditionary party came in three ships, the 
Whitby, the 
Will Watch, and the 
Arrow, to prepare the area for the first settlers who were already on the water. On New Year's Day 1842 a sports meeting was held, possibly the first to be organised in New Zealand, which included the first organised game of cricket recorded in New Zealand.


It was played between the Company's survey cadets, who had brought bats, balls and stumps with them from England, and the artisans, who were the engineers and mechanics. The match was played on an area of ground in Collingwood Street which was known for many years as 'the Cricket Ground'. Boat and canoe races involving the local Maori were held on the harbour, and there was fencing and cutlass practice, musket firing, foot races and dancing to the music of fife, fiddle and drum.


In the spring of 1842, after several of the first settlers' ships had arrived, the young men of the town formed the Nelson Cricket Club. An announcement calling for members appeared in the 
Nelson Examiner in early November. The club was formed at a meeting held in a local hotel on 30 November 1842, with JH Cooper as secretary and GR Richardson as treasurer. The club's first field day took place at the Cricket Ground on Saturday 10 December 1842, 'wickets being pitched at two o'clock precisely'. This effectively refutes the generally held view that the Wellington Cricket Club match played between the Reds and the Blues on 25 December 1842 was the first organised game of club cricket in New Zealand.


The 
Nelson Examiner scored a unique distinction when it gave the first ever newspaper account of a cricket match in New Zealand. It reported comprehensively on a two innings match played between the Surveyors and All Nelson on 4 and 5 March 1844. The report concluded with the information that 'at six o'clock, the party with a few friends sat down to a substantial dinner provided by Mr Harley at the Carpenters' Arms where the evening was spent in a right merry fashion'.





The first anniversary day celebrations were held on 1 and 2 February 1843. The first sailing regatta was held on Nelson harbour and there were various athletic contests. A horse race was held, after a track had been cut through the manuka scrub. The mounts were the riding horses of the landowners and gentry of the town.


Horse racing dominated the New Zealand sporting scene in the early days of European settlement and Nelson led the way. Although the first recorded horse race was held at Te Aro Pa, Wellington in 1841, Nelson was the first town to hold an annual race meeting, beginning in 1843.


The first permanent racecourse in New Zealand was established at Stoke in 1845. A full card of eight races was held, including a Ladies Plate, the stake for which was raised by public subscription from the ladies of the settlement. After the race meeting on 16 March 1848 the committee resolved to form itself into a jockey club, thereby becoming the first jockey club in New Zealand.


At this time a young man named Henry Redwood was an active participant in the Nelson racing scene. He had ridden several winners and he began to establish the New Zealand thoroughbred breeding industry. By 1851 he was making trips to Australia to buy bloodstock, bringing them back in cattle ships. In 1852 he imported the first notable sire to stand in New Zealand, Sir Hercules, which did more to establish the quality and reputation of the New Zealand breeding industry than any other sire.


In 1858, showing characteristic enterprise, Redwood became the first New Zealander to take horses from New Zealand to race in Australia. His three horses won major races there and were all sold to Australian buyers. The following year he repeated the exercise with similar success. Redwood established the famous Redwood Stables near Nelson and went on to become the doyen of New Zealand racing. He is known as the Father of New Zealand Turf.


The first 
New Zealand Stud Book was compiled by Charles Elliott in 1862 and was printed and published by the 
Nelson Examiner. The cost of publication was met by 54 subscribers who were listed in the book, which contained the pedigrees of 145 mares and 58 covering stallions. Volume two appeared in 1866.





The first yacht club in New Zealand was formed in 1857. Following the annual regatta on Nelson Harbour, the 
Nelson Examiner reported that a number of gentlemen desirous of promoting yachting in this province had met on 25 March at the Trafalgar Hotel. After dinner, when the cloth had been removed and Mr Duppa esq. had been called to the chair, four resolutions were put and carried and the Nelson Yacht Club was established.


An extraordinary episode took place in 1864 after the Nelson Cricket team travelled by steamship to Wellington, where they played two games against Wellington. On the way home they stopped off at Picton and played Marlborough and then, as there was no shipping available to Nelson, they walked back to Nelson through the bush with all their gear. The walk took just over three days and included the climb up over the Maungatapu Saddle. This gives some idea of the difficulties of travel with which early sports teams had to contend.


It is likely that the first 'football' match in New Zealand took place in Nelson in 1860. A Nelson College old boy, writing for the 1910 
Nelsonian when he must have been in his late sixties, relates the following account of the game of primitive football played in Brook Street Valley between a School Eighteen and the Rest of the School:


'After being marshalled into sundry positions and instructions given, we started play, and then the fun commenced in real earnest. The Rest of the School just simply swarmed over us like flies over a honey pot. No one was very particular about whether it was the ball or some schoolfellow's head, shins, or any other part of his body, so long as he got a kick in. The whistle shrieked, but our blood was up and we were not going to stop for such a trifle as that. After careering over and around the field, by the aid of the masters and coaches (they were hopelessly mixed up with us) they did manage at last to separate us, but we were panting for the blood of the Rest of the School. Result of the first spell: nil.


At the beginning of the second spell the tables were turned. The Rest of the School had extended themselves too much in the first spell, so down they went like nine-pins, but we could not get that ball through or over the bar, and the battle ended (so the referee said) in a draw. Final results: eighteen men bandaging legs, ankles, and heads, and the masters so ashamed of our dilapidated appearance that they gave us a holiday the next day to get over the battle'. This was the first recorded game of primitive football played in New Zealand.





On 5 April 1867, on his sixteenth birthday, New Zealand born Charles John Monro left Nelson for England to further his education. Son of the illustrious pioneer doctor and politician, Sir David Monro, he had been educated at Nelson College where, in all probability, he had played in some early games of primitive football. In England he attended Christ's College, Finchley, where he was introduced to the Rugby School version of football and played in the school's 'second twenty-two'.


On his return to Nelson in 1870 he persuaded the Nelson Football Club, which was playing a hybrid version of football, and his old school to try the Rugby School game. With the support of the headmaster of Nelson College, JC Simmons, himself an old Rugbeian, Monro conducted coaching sessions for both teams. As a result, the first game of rugby in New Zealand was played on Saturday 14 May 1870 at the Botanics Reserve, Nelson, between The College and Town. There were eighteen players on each side.


The 
Nelson Examiner noted that the College team looked very well in their tight fitting shirts and blue caps, probably their gymnasium attire, including white knickerbockers. The Nelson Club did not look as well as their opponents as they had no distinctive uniform and probably wore their street clothes. Nelson Club won by two goals to nil. There were about two hundred spectators, including Sir David and Lady Monro, and a goodly number of the opposite sex.


Inspired by his Nelson success, Charles Monro journeyed to Wellington with his father, who was attending the sitting of Parliament. In Wellington he organised and coached a team consisting mainly of members of the local militia, most of whom had never played any version of football before.


Using his father's connections, Monro approached Julius Vogel, the Minister for Marine, and asked if the government steamer 
Luna, then on a lighthouse supply run in the area, could bring the Nelson team over to Wellington. There was no scheduled inter-island service in those days. Vogel kindly agreed and telegraphed Captain Fairchild, instructing him to call at Nelson and bring the Nelson team to Wellington.


On 12 September 1870 the two teams were driven out to Petone in a couple of Prosser's drays and they set up their goal posts on a dry stony area where the railway station now stands. The driver of the dray, Stan Prosser, was co-opted into the Wellington team, bringing their number to thirteen against Nelson's fourteen. Not surprisingly, Nelson won by two goals to one.





The match was the first inter-provincial game played in New Zealand and Monro played an extraordinary part in it. He played for his home side, was opposition selector and coach, and the unofficial referee. He later wrote, 'There was no referee with his confounded whistle to check almost every heroic effort, but Lord how we did enjoy ourselves'!


As a result of this game, the Wellington Football Club was formed and rugby began to establish itself in Wellington and Nelson. In 1876 Nelson College played Wellington College at the Basin Reserve, the first inter-secondary school game of rugby in New Zealand.


Nelson also played a pioneering role in women's sport. In 1886 the first game of women's cricket in New Zealand was played at Riwaka when eleven Marahau girls played the girls from Riwaka. A dinner and dance was held, but unfortunately no other details were recorded. Apart from brief efforts in Picton and Waipawa about 1893, it was not until 1928 that organised women's cricket began in New Zealand.


The first game of women's hockey in New Zealand was played in Nelson in 1897, probably between teams of local Maori and European girls. In the same year the first women's hockey club in New Zealand, the Wakatu Maori Ladies' Club, was formed. Two years later, in 1899, hockey was introduced into Nelson College for Girls, mainly because the weather was too wet for croquet or tennis.


Just after the turn of the century two rather bizarre episodes occurred relating to Nelson sport. In December 1904, at the annual gymnastic contest between Wellington College and Nelson College, held on this occasion in Wellington, there were very sharp differences of opinion over the judging of the contest by local Wellington judges. These differences were exacerbated by a report which appeared in the 
Nelson Evening Mail. The outcome was that all sporting activities between the two schools ceased until 1925. This was indeed unfortunate, as the two schools had the longest rugby playing association in the world, and many other close sporting contacts.


The other incident, in 1908, arose out of the New Zealand Tennis 30




[image: Women's hockey tournament, Nelson versus Wairarapa 1924. (FN Jones Collection, Nelson Provincial Museum, FNJ1/2 60)]


Women's hockey tournament, Nelson versus Wairarapa 1924. (FN Jones Collection, Nelson Provincial Museum, FNJ1/2 60)





Championships, held on private grass courts in Manuka Street owned by Charles Green. The championship, personally hosted by Green, caused damage to the courts and the New Zealand Tennis Association declined to meet the cost of restitution. Green then refused to pay the annual levies of the players who used his courts and all Nelson players were debarred from tournaments under the auspices of the Association until 1924, when new courts were completed and the Nelson Lawn Tennis Club was established.


Nelson's geographical position contributed to its sporting isolation. When the New Zealand Women's Hockey Championships were held in Nelson in 1910, such was the dearth of outside sporting contacts that shops and the business community closed their doors to enable staff to watch the games played by the Nelson team.


The first radio sports broadcast in New Zealand took place in Nelson on 28 April 1923. The occasion was the Australasian single sculling championship on Nelson harbour between Paddy Hannen, the New Zealand champion, and Alf Felton, the Australian champion, for a purse of 500 pounds.


By today's standards, the broadcast was a primitive affair. Nelson had yet to receive a station licence or a call sign, and special permission had to be obtained to broadcast the race. Wilkins & Field Hardware loaned a small, battery powered five-watt transmitter to the local sea scouts, who stationed themselves with it on a borrowed launch which followed the rowers around the course.


The commentary, if it could be called that, was transmitted to a receiving station on the wharf near the finishing line. From there it was broadcast over a public address system for the benefit of the large spectator gallery, and to the small number of private radio sets located in the district. It was a year before Nelson received reticulated electricity and the whole effort was achieved through battery power.


The three commentators, identified as Messrs Field, Wheeler and Innes, gave a sequence of disjointed one liners at three or four minute intervals during the race. The initial commentary was punctuated by questions: 'Are you getting this Mr Croucher, Richmond? Are you getting this Mr Griffiths, Stoke? Are you getting this Motueka?'. The race description included comments such as 'both very even very steady; one and a half miles covered; now past the mile post from home, both keeping the same speed; their oars touched and they rowed on; give us a wave if you have received our talk'.





Hannen was declared the winner after Felton, who crossed the line one metre in front, was disqualified for cutting Hannen off. There was no emotion or excitement in the commentary and there was such minimal narration that the whole forty-five minute broadcast was able to be recorded, word for word, in the 
Nelson Evening Mail on 30 April 1923. None-the-less it was an historic occasion, the forerunner of an enterprise that was to be pioneered and established by broadcasting notable, Alan Allardyce, in the years that followed.


After this historic event Nelson seemed to drift back into the sequestered tranquillity of the provincial way of life. However, the best was yet to come in terms of sporting achievement. The 1950s was a decade of outstanding performances by Nelson sports people. It began when the 
Tawhiri, skippered by Noel Brown with a Nelson crew, won the Canterbury Centennial Yacht race being the only yacht to officially finish. Ten lives were lost, making it New Zealand's greatest sporting tragedy.


Nelson road cyclists, led by Nick Carter and the Howes brothers, were the outstanding performers in New Zealand road cycling. The men's hockey team had a vice-like grip on the Norden Cup, symbol of minor association hockey supremacy, while the Nelson cricket team had a monopoly on the Hawke Cup. The men's and women's indoor basketball teams were amongst the best in the country, and Nelson was the venue of the annual New Zealand beach car racing championships.


New Zealand representatives included All Blacks Bill Clarke, Guy Bowers, Nev McEwan, and Rex Pickering, cricketers John Guy and Ian Leggatt, and there were various national representatives in other sporting codes.


The New Zealand sporting scene was beginning to change dramatically. The big action was shifting away from provincial towns to the metropolitan cities. Nelson, however, had made a contribution to the establishment of New Zealand sport out of all proportion to the size and significance of the town. If all this sounds a bit one-eyed, like Lord Nelson, it should be noted that the author is a Nelsonian.
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Towards the end of 1987 the memorial marking the site of the birthplace of Baron Rutherford, on the outskirts of Brightwater, was declared 'a national disgrace'. There was a concrete slab 'chipped off at one corner, with river boulders all over the place' and a plaque bearing the inscription:








Ernest Rutherford




Order of Merit, President of the Royal Society

 and Nobel Laureate

 was born in a small house near this site

 on 30 August 1871


He rose to world eminence as a scientist

 and for his research work in radio activity

 and on the structure of the atom

 was created Baron Rutherford of Nelson in 1931


He died at Cambridge, England on 19 October 1937

 and his ashes were buried in Westminster Abbey




A plan to incorporate the symbol of an atom on a tower had been selected at a public meeting in October 1981 attended by 30 people, but it was subsequently considered inappropriate, as it could have become the venue for anti-nuclear protests.


The Waimea County Council had allocated $12,000 for gathering rocks for garden walls and landscaping work at the site. Twenty IHC workers were employed in gathering rocks for the wall, and six were to help with the wall building and landscaping. Work was delayed because a six metre strip of the land on which the work was to be done did not belong to the Council. The owner was prepared to transfer the land to public ownership, but this was delayed by a dispute. The Council procrastinated over the sort of memorial to build and sought funding assistance, believing that the project should be national rather than regional.


A meeting held at the Waimea County Council office on 22 February 1988 decided to end the wrangle on how to mark the birthplace of New Zealand's most famous scientist. The invited representatives included the two Nelson MPs, the Tourist and Publicity Department, the Ministry of Science, the Royal Society, the Rutherford family and the Historic Places Trust. They decided to accept the idea put forward by Dr John Campbell 

of the Canterbury University Physics Department for a display depicting Lord Rutherford's life and achievements and his links with Nelson.


It had been Dr Campbell, who was writing a biography of Ernest Rutherford, who had called the site 'a national disgrace'. The 
Nelson Evening Mail reported him on 23 February 1988 as saying:


'Rutherford does not need a memorial himself because he lives through his work. He was internationally recognised as one of the world's greatest scientists. But Nelson and New Zealand do need a memorial to illustrate that this man was of international stature. It is unlikely there will ever be a scientist of his stature'.


The plan was a three phase one:




	1.
	To raise the money needed to build and care for the project.


	2.
	To get local and national support.


	3.
	To approach government departments and overseas sources for money.



The meeting had decided to approach the Visual Production Unit of the Conservation Department for a study and costing of the plan, Waimea County Council owned a quarter of an acre of land at the Rutherford birthplace site, but the six metres of disputed land still had to be obtained.


On 11 January 1989, under the head-line 
Rutherford Memorial Approved, the 
Nelson Evening Mail reported the project convenor, Dr John Campbell, as saying he had heard that the Minister of Conservation, Ms Helen Clark, had approved the new plan just before Christmas.


The plan, drawn by Nelson landscape designer Sissons and Conway, was based on a mound surrounded by terraces, with plants and trees from Canada, England and New Zealand to represent the places in which Lord Rutherford had worked. Each terrace would represent a different stage of the physicist's life. Designing of the information panels was done by Eric Collinson and Bary Jacobsen of Baric Design Associates. The statue of Ernest Rutherford as a boy, which is the centre-piece of the memorial, was created by Monaco sculptor, Paul Walshe.


Design costs were paid by the Department of Conservation. Early donations by local firms were $1000 from the Nelson Building Society and $6000 towards the installation of lighting from Tasman Energy.





A Rutherford Foundation, based on the Royal Society of New Zealand, was set up. The list of Seeding Patrons in a newsletter from the Rutherford Birthsite Project on 31 July 1991 included the Nelson College Old Boys' Association, the Nelson Historical Society, the McKee Trust, the University Grants Committee, Trinity College (Cambridge), the British Council and the Canadian High Commission. The list of Principal Patrons included the New Zealand Tourist and Publicity Department, The Royal Society (London), McGill University (Canada), Nelson Pine Industries, Honda New Zealand Ltd, Massey University, the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research and the Lottery Grants Board.


The $400,000 memorial was opened by the Governor-General, Dame Catherine Tizard, on 6 December 1991. The string of prestigious guests included Rutherford's grandson, Professor Peter Fowler, his three other grandchildren and their children and the British and Canadian High Commissioners. Those gathered sought shelter from the rain in the Brightwater Public Hall, where speakers were introduced by Dr John Campbell, the Convenor of the project. Physicist Sir Mark Oliphant FRS, who had been his student and friend, spoke of Ernest Rutherford's life and achievements.


Unfortunately there were no media representatives present for the historical ceremony. Reporters from the 
Nelson Evening Mail were on strike and, due to an oversight, TVNZ had not been alerted to the celebrations.


A group of local organisations were declared the Guardians of the Rutherford Birthsite:



	The Mayor, Tasman District Council.

	The Chairman, The Rutherford Foundation.

	The President, Royal Society of New Zealand.

	The President, Nelson Historical Society.

	The Principal, Brightwater School.

	The Manager, New Zealand Tourism Department.

	Dr J Campbell, University of Canterbury.



Another organisation, The Friends of the Memorial, was also established. The Memorial, on the western-side of Lord Rutherford Memorial Drive, is on a reserve under the administration of the Tasman District Council.
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Editorial Introduction by Athol Blair:




From the very early days of motoring in Nelson the name of Vining, like that of Coote, was for many years a household word. Indeed, the association of the Vining name with motoring lasted three quarters of a century.





It all began following the arrival of William G ('WG') Vining in Nelson just as the revolution created by the internal combustion engine automobile was beginning. The first such cars landed at the Nelson wharf in 1903, the first year in which the steam cars in the world were outnumbered by the benzine engine car. Typically, they were open vehicles without a hood of any kind and with a single cylinder engine.





It was in exactly this kind of car in 1908, (the year the world's first mass-produced car, the famous Ford Model T was born), that 'WG' won an indelible place in Nelson motoring history as told in a separate article in this Journal.



WG Vining was born in England in 1865, the tenth family member of James Tally Vining, a barrister, and was educated on the Isle of Wight.


He did not keep the best of health and came to New Zealand in 1892, at the age of 37, seeking a better living environment. Three years later he married Margaret Kebbell and had two children; Vera, later to be Vera Farmer, and our father, Philip.


His early ambition saw him open a business in upper Trafalgar Street, in the premises now occupied by Chez Eelco. At first he sold pianos and bicycles, and then very early motor cars from the building at the rear, which later became the Peter Cooper Photographic Studio. The original wooden turntable in the floor for the cars could still be seen in Peter Cooper's time.


With the progression and development of the motor car, 'WG' saw an opportunity to sell and promote the motor car further. In 1907 he built a very large garage which occupied the inner city block between Bridge and 

Hardy Streets. It was later known as Montgomery's Garage and is now the Montgomery Car Park.


From these premises he started by selling Cadillacs, which he imported as bare chassis and ran a separate asssembly division to build the completed motor vehicle, along with other makes. He later obtained the franchising of Hudson, Essex, Chevrolet and Rover cars.


Pope Motors, in which he had an interest, also operated a passenger car service to Blenheim, Motueka and Riwaka from the garage. This service was eventually taken over by Newmans for their early motor vehicle routes.


Our father, Phil Vining, started as an apprentice with 'WG' and became workshop manager. When he reminisced about those early days, he recalled that he was driving a motor car at the age of 10 and, from the age of 14, he filled in as a driver for passengers to Blenheim at times.


We remember him telling us that on his most eventful trip to Blenheim the brakes failed completely going down hill. Rather than risk going over the edge and down a big drop, he drove the vehicle parallel into the bank on the driver's side and brought it to a halt without injury to himself or the passengers. If a car broke down or crashed, there were no breakdown trucks to uplift the vehicle and take it back to the garage.


When a car was sold, invariably the purchaser had never driven a car and it was expected, as part of the sales, that they would be taught to drive.


Les White, who started his apprenticeship with 'WG', became the foreman and then service manager of Central Motors in Trafalgar Street, which later became Wrightcars. Les recalled attending a car accident in the Collins Valley at which he first had to heat and straighten the chassis, before driving the car back to Nelson.


'WG' disposed of his business to Les Montgomery on 30 September 1927, and the building then became Montgomery's garage. Our father Phil then, together with Charles Scott, started business in Bridge Street under the name of P Vining & Scott in a building known then as Bishop's 

Garages. They had the Essex and Hudson franchises and they subsequently moved with these to a building in Waimea (now Rutherford) Street, a garage formerly known as Hall and Coote's. They added the Morris franchise to their range in 1932.
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'WG' enjoyed good music and played both the piano and organ. He was Nelson Cathedral Organist for several years. He was known as a very gentle person, with a twinkle in his eye and a good sense of humour. A president of the Nelson City Club, he was made a life member of that organisation. He enjoyed owning motor vehicles of distinction, such as Lancaster, Rover and Fiat, and in his retirement loved to potter with the mechanical aspects of these cars in a large workshop sited on a property now occupied by the grounds of Auckland Point School.
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Richard E Coote




Cecil Henry Coote was my grandfather, and his 1904/06 Rover was one of the first motor cars to arrive in Nelson. When my grandparents were away in England in 1907 my father, John Cecil Coote, who was still at Nelson College, took the motor out of the car and put it in a boat. Apparently this was quite a surprise to his father who, on his return, had to request that the car be made mobile as soon as possible!


A love of motor boats stayed with Dad all his life, however, and not only did he initiate many of the events in Nelson, Lake Rotoiti and the Marlborough Sounds, but he was also a successful competitor both locally and nationally. This covered both hydroplane and inboard motor craft. He imported the first four-cylinder outboard motor that came to New Zealand – an Elto.


My grandparents lived at Mountrath, quite a large home and small farm in the first valley east of the Atawhai cemetery. One day, when passing a horse-driven funeral cortege, Grandfather impatiently honked the rather raucous horn, which made the horse bolt, depositing the hearse and coffin in the tide! According to legend my rather severe grandmother never allowed Henry to drive the car again. Subsequent photographs seem to confirm this.


From 1910 to 1915 Dad managed the Blechynden farm at Lake Rotoiti. My mother was Edith Blechynden. In 1913 he persuaded his father, Henry, to drive his model T Ford to the lake. This was the first time a motor vehicle had attempted the journey, and it took all day. Many tyres were changed, some hills were only negotiated in reverse, and the car had to be 'unstuck' with horses and chain when crossing the Motupiko River, a tributary of the Motueka.


Motor cycles were in their infancy, but from about 1910 Dad became an enthusiast in the early races that were held on the sand flats at Wakapuaka and the Richmond racecourse, and in the hill climbs on the 
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Aniseed Valley hill. In 1935 he sponsored one of his apprentices, Arthur Bradley, to the Isle of Man TT races. Brad was an exceptional rider, but regrettably he crashed badly in one of his practice runs and was unable to compete.


On his return from World War I, Dad realised that his fascination with things mechanical was to be his future and in 1919, at the age of 30, he began serving an adult apprenticeship as a fitter and turner at the Anchor Foundry.


In 1922 he went into partnership with a Mr Hallum, under the name of The Universal Ford Motor Company, in a two storied building in Hardy Street opposite Wilkins and Field. At this time he went to the United States, where he contracted with an oil company for the right to market petrol under the brand name Halco. This was sold in cases containing two four-gallon tins. He also purchased a 1918 Studebaker and a wonderful Stanley Steamer which, in later years, became a taxi owned by Ellis Dudgeon, a well-known Nelson photographer.


The partners opened a new garage on the corner of Hardy and Rutherford Streets, where Bowater Honda is today, in about 1926. Hallum sold his interests to Cliff Hall in 1928 and the new partnership traded as Hall and Coote Ltd. They had agencies for Rugby, Durant, Hupmobile and Ford.


Dad bought out Cliff Hall in 1932, sold the lease on their site to Vinings, and built a new garage where the New World Supermarket is now situated. The entrance lane off Hardy Street was roughly where the Marble Arch Arcade is now. Dad broadened the agencies he represented to include Standard, Singer and Dodge, as well as the trucks made by Reo and Thornycroft.


I used to spend every available moment in the garage, or out with Dad when he was demonstrating vehicles. At the age of two I got out the closed gates of our Seymour Avenue home and walked on my own down to the garage in Hardy Street, only to be told by Cyril Watson, one of the mechanics, that Dad had driven home for lunch. Half way up Collingwood Street on my return I was greeted by a Rugby open tourer with all the family anxiously out looking for me. I was quite unperturbed, but pleased to get a ride home.
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Sometimes Dad would let me off school, a place which I liked, but I preferred cars, in order to take me with him on a truck demonstration. In those days, when a truck was sold, it was nearly always as a bare chassis with no cab. I well remember going up the Wairoa Gorge, sitting on a petrol box that was tied to the chassis. The corners were so narrow and sharp that we had to take two or three tacks to get around them.


Sometime in his late teens or early twenties, in order to accept a challenge, Dad drove a car that I think was a model T Ford up the Church Steps. Later, on more than one occasion, I remember sitting on the back of a truck going from Salt Water Bridge down to the Wharf via the cycle track that ran alongside the railway line!


Regrettably, Dad died suddenly in October 1937 when, as an eight-year-old, I accompanied him to his sawmill at Okaha in the Pelorus Sound. He had just delivered an old truck that was a terror to start. This ended our connection with Hall and Coote, which was sold and became Nelson Motors, run at first by Bob Greenwood and later by Halsie Logan.


Some of the names of men who worked with my father at various times were his younger brother Eric Coote, Bob Greenwood, Bob Heslop, Noel Watson, Cyril Watson, Arthur Bradley, Joe Talbot, Les Ward, Des Hargreaves, Stan Lenney and the only one still living, Harry Gaskell.
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The following account of a history-making landmark expedition by car from Nelson to Christchurch was supplied from family records by Richard and Peter Vining, grandsons of the pioneer motorist who made the trip, William G ('WG') Vining.


The inserts in italics were supplied by Athol Blair to give background and elucidation where such may be helpful to the reader.




When the first cars to Nelson were landed in 1903, the roads outside the towns which carried horse and bullock traffic were often rutted and deep in mud. As well rivers were seldom bridged.





As recorded by Margaret Brown in 'Difficult Country', a car finally got to Murchison in 1908, carrying no less a person than Sir Joseph Ward, the Prime Minister. Although Tom Newman of the highly regarded Newman Brothers' coach lines remarked that cars would never be any good for where coaches went, Newmans were in fact using motor vehicles for the easier routes, such as to Motueka, by 1911. But it was not until 1918 that coaches were finally superseded by the new tangled automobiles.





Thus William G Vining's epic journey ten years earlier in a little 10HP single cylinder open Cadillac, was both a daring venture and a remarkable expression of confidence in the motor car and the coming of a motor age.



On 26 March 1908, at the striking of 11 am by the Nelson Post Office clock, WG Vining and his passengers headed out in pouring rain along the winding road that bordered Nelson Haven. The passengers were three well known Nelsonians, Mrs W Sutton, Miss Lucy Hunter-Brown and Miss B Humphries. On over steep Gentle Annie they soon passed the first (or last) of Newmans' changing stables for coach horses on the Nelson – Blenheim run.


They then laboured up the twisting road over the Whangamoa Hill, past perpendicular drops to valley or gully below, and around bends so sharp 

the bonnet of the car almost disappeared before them. Often the wheels were close to the outside edge, with very little room to spare.


On they went in the rain and, by another tortuous climb, crossed the Rai Saddle and soon passed the turn-off to the Carluke mill township and Brownlee's big timber mill. The smoke and steam from it could be seen above the tall trees by the Rai River. There was little where Rai Valley township now stands, not even the dairy factory. They chugged past the settlement of Flat Creek with its school and, at long last, reached the coach changing stables and accommodation house at Rai Falls for a late lunch.


They did not stay long, as the road was bad and progress slow amid the bush. The Cadillac crossed the Pelorus River by a high bridge that replaced one which had been swept away by a devastating flood just four years earlier. They motored on down the Pelorus Valley past Canvastown to the end of the Brownlee Railway, which ran from Carluke to the estuary port of Blackball. A slow twisty road then took them beside the estuary to Havelock, where they refuelled with benzine at Brownlee's General Store, near the Methodist Church which is now the museum. The fuel was stocked in four-gallon tins, two to a benzine case.


Rain fell in buckets as the Cadillac left Havelock, but the purchase of a man's large umbrella for four shillings and sixpence to shelter the four in the open car proved an inspired move. It was growing dark by the time they reached the Kaituna Accommodation House and the turn-off to the Tuamarina Track, which wound around the bluffs of the Wairau River.




The Wairau had not yet been bridged at this point. Coaches often forded it but, when this was too dangerous, they followed the Tuamarina Track to the Picton-Blenheim road which, by 1908, had a combined road-rail bridge. The Track had been but a bridle track in earlier times.



Their pace was now down to a crawl, as they warily followed the dangerous cuttings with all their eyes glued to the road. Finally they were through and turned for Blenheim. Still the rain bucketed down and visibility was cut to a metre or so. They waited for a train to cross the combined rail-road bridge and 'WG', impatient and wet, then sped onto the bridge, forgetting the sharp turn at the other end. A warning cry prompted him to apply the emergency brake just as the front wheels disappeared into a cattle stop. Fortunately, the rear wheels stayed on the road and, after much pushing, they were back on the trail again. Ten minutes later they 

were regarding the face of the Post Office clock in Blenheim which said 8.15 pm. It was nine and a quarter hours since they had left Nelson.


'WG' left Blenheim in rapidly clearing weather the next day at 11.30 am on the second stage of their journey, travelling through Starborough (Seddon) and Flaxbourne, which was not known by its present name of Ward until the railway was completed. They were told that they would never negotiate the Flaxbourne Hills because they were deep in mud and new gravel. Apart from one stoppage, however, they found the going reasonable. A friendly roadman showed them how to use tussock to give the wheels better grip on slippery sections.


They reached the Ure River without a hitch and found it so dry that it did not even afford them drinking water, so they pushed on to Kekerengu after visiting a homestead. Ahead lay 'the slip', a bad piece of road one kilometre long which was always subject to sliding.




This was an unstable blue papa hillside which kept slumping, cutting the road, and the railway too after it was laid.



They negotiated it successfully until they were only a metre from the end, when the Cadillac bogged down. All hands gathered armfuls of tussock, but still they could not get a grip. Next, they hauled on the car with a block and tackle until they could pull no more. In fact they bent the iron pin holding the tackle, but the car remained stuck fast.


With darkness coming on, they walked the five kilometres to the Rutherford homestead where several men offered to help with an enormous cart horse. While the horse pulled and the crew and men heaved, the morass reluctantly gave up its victim. The motorists arrived at the accommodation house at 9.30 pm, tired but pleased with their progress. Again they encountered 'croakers', pessimists who forecast tales of doom on the trail ahead, but they were sceptical, no longer the nervous motorists who had started from Nelson the morning before. The next day, after driving only a few kilometres, they encountered the 'Devil's Elbow', a fearsome hill covered in mud. 'WG' had been told they would need a horse to get to the top, but first they tried the roadman's trick with flax and tussock. They made a track through the mud and, with one person driving and three pushing, the Cadillac crept up the hill.





Whenever it stuck they laid flax in front of the wheels, and ultimately reached the top of the hill safely. It had been hard work in the heat of the day so they paused for tea at The Shades, where they regaled everyone with their tales.
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Lunch followed at the Clarence Accommodation House, which was full of the relics of the 1886 
Taiaroa wreck. Then they found themselves on fine roads through lovely scenery until they reached the Hapuka River, which was dreaded by local people. Some Maoris came to their aid, and soon there was a large gathering on the banks of the river. Two of the motorists crossed in a borrowed gig, and its horse was then harnessed to the Cadillac. With the horse pulling and the car straining forwards, they reached the middle of the river, but there the Cadillac became stuck against huge boulders.


Two passing cyclists came to their aid and helped move the boulders. The car came bumping up the bank with water pouring from it after an hour's delay. The Maori children raised a cheer, and the motorists felt they had at least provided them with an afternoon's entertainment. Contrary to all expectations, the motor started without demur and they ran the remaining ten kilometres into Kaikoura in fine style. During their overnight stop a coach driver was emphatic that the road to Christchurch was impassable with a 'new tangled machine', but 'WG' decided to continue the journey until they could go no further.




In 1908 there was no coastal road between the Kowhai River and Oaro. The route went inland via Lynton, Charwell and the Whale's Back to Waiau.



Brilliant weather favoured them again. A horse helped pull the Cadillac through the waters of the Kowhai, the first obstacle, and another provided help at Stormy Creek. Crill Creek was crossed with no assistance. At the tiny Lynton the Cadillac stuck fast on the soft sandy bottom and they extricated it from the middle of the creek using sacks, planks and manuka.


Friends at Lynton Downs provided lunch and sent a horse to help the motorists over the Kahutara ford. The Kaikoura mountains rose close above the road and they revelled in the wonderful scenery. Their route climbed great cuttings, such as Forty Corners, and dipped into deep river ravines with sheer bluffs rising on each side. At Charwell Crossing a friendly shepherd used his horse to pull the car from the soft silt. It was dark by the time they reached the Conway Accommodation House, where they spent the night.





They started before dawn the next morning to allow plenty of time to attempt the infamous Conway Cutting. Two men with horses accompanied them, to haul the Cadillac up the precipice on the southern bank of the river, and then rode with them the fifteen kilometres to the Upper Mason ford. They faced five kilometres of water and river bed but, fortunately, the horses did not mind the sound of the engine running, so together they overcame the river without too many delays.


The Cadillac became stuck once more at the Wandle and was hauled out by a team of horses. A roadman's horse and cart towed the car through the Lottery, while a shepherd and two draught horses saw them safely across the Lower Mason. Ahead lay the town of Waiau, where the excited motorists sent a telegram to Nelson announcing that they had practically completed the first journey by motorcar from Nelson to Christchurch.


After the trials of the previous five days, the crossings next day of the Pahau and Waipara rivers went without a hitch and they arrived in Cathedral Square, Christchurch, at 10 am on 31 March, the sixth day of the journey.


Travel-stained but elated with the mishap-free marathon, the motorists rested in Christchurch for three days before turning homeward. They had an easier return because the rivers were much lower and roadmen had been busy repairing the effects of recent floods along stretches of the road. They needed help at the Upper Mason, Conway, Charwell and Hapuka Rivers, but they crossed the rest by themselves. The Cadillac chugged back into Nelson on 8 April after a round trip to Christchurch of 11 days travelling.


It is recorded that the motorists were assisted in their trip by many well known Marlborough people and received hospitality from Mrs C Murray, Wharanui; Mr Rutherford, Kekerangu; Mr Trolove and family of The Shades, and Mrs Lynton of Lynton Downs.




The usual method of travel from Nelson to Christchurch continued to be by ship via Wellington and Lyttelton until some years after the First World War. Motor vehicle travel on the East Coast route increased steadily from 1908, however, with the services of WG Vining, the trail blazer, being most in demand in the early years. The Lewis Pass road opened 30 years later.











Victoria University of Wellington Library




Nelson Historical Society Journal, Volume 6, Issue 4, 2001

Two Days by Car to Christchurch and Two Back












Two Days by Car to Christchurch and Two Back









Athol Blair




You may know that 1933 was not a good year. Nobody thought it a good year, and even I thought it started badly, because I was sent home from school and told not to come back. Well, it wasn't quite like that but the effect was the same. There were others like me, new five-year-olds sent home because the government couldn't afford teachers for us. It had raised the starting age to six over the whole country.


What was good about 1933 was that, as I was at home, I was going to be taken to Christchurch for the first time in our Rugby car. I feel I may not have gone otherwise, as that would have meant missing school. In the eyes of New Zealand parents brought up with Scottish attitudes to education, there was nothing worse than missing a day at school, unless it was missing two.


The Rugby, the family's first car, was one of the cheaper American cars. It had a folding hood, side-curtains, a round clock-face temperature gauge sitting above the shining radiator, spare wheels on the back and a big foldout carrier which could take all the luggage wrapped in a heavy green canvas bag held firmly by leather straps and buckles. It had been delivered in Nelson, probably from Hallum and Coote's garage at about the time I was delivered in Nelson, at the Collingwood Street maternity hospital, now reborn as Dayman's Garage.


With two bench seats, the front one folding down to make a bed, there was still space for folding camp stools which helped the car's astonishing carrying capacity. This is evidenced from photos taken on distant excursions when most of the family of nine children were present. The only drawback I recall to a well loaded car was that the drainage tap below the petrol tank could be knocked when crossing a rough water-course. On the two occasions it happened, ingenuity staunched the petrol leak sufficiently to make base, but it was usual to carry at least one red two-gallon can of petrol.


My father also always had a bicycle tube for fitting over the exhaust and up behind the spare when in deep water. I recall that for back country
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places, to which he travelled extensively as the District Inspector of Livestock for Nelson, he carried a lot of gear, including tools such as axe and shovel, and was always prepared for overnighting in the car.


In my early years he still had a horse, no longer in our horse paddock beyond the back yard and large vegetable garden, (now a park with Grove Street Kindergarten), but at Wai-iti, beyond Wakefield. He travelled there by train before the horse treks, which at times took many days in all weathers and conditions. He told me of crossing the flooding Buller in snow and sleet and then spending a miserably cold night at Tophouse Hotel. Although it was often the only practical way to travel, my mother said that even after the car had proved itself in difficult conditions, it was still officially considered improper for a stock inspector to arrive at most farms in one.





The Rugby had been to Dunedin, taking members of the family to visit a 94 year-old grandmother, so the trip to Christchurch was not groundbreaking. It was, nevertheless, exacting, especially on the many hill roads. Our party had four members, my parents, myself and my Uncle Andrew, Master of the SS 
Duntroon which was making an infrequent visit to New Zealand. He had left his ship at Wellington, coming by night ferry to visit us, and travelling with us to Lyttelton to rejoin it there.


Motor vehicles were still relatively few in 1933 and I cannot recall any others being owned along our part of the street except Arthur Harley's. The route out along Grove and Milton Streets, great paved play areas, would have been quiet, as usual, early on the morning we left.


From the town boundary about Weka Street, much of which fronted the tide, we drove by the gravelled road that wound past the cemetery and in and out of all the inlets of the Haven. This was familiar territory and I always looked for my name on the gate of 
Blair Athol, near present-day Brooklands Road. The name still applies to a property there.


The familiarity continued to the Glen and Cable Bay roads, steep Gentle Annie and Harley's bach beside the deep Teal River, with the road bridge at the foot of the, to me unknown, Whangamoa Hill. To the left, on the flat between river and hill, stretched a long township of white tents. With wooden floors and sides to less than half height, white duck cloth above and a canvas fly over all, they were the homes of the unemployed, the relief workers navvying on the hill road, each with their standard issue wooden steel-wheeled barrow, pick and shovel.


We started meeting them in little knots as we followed the tortuous single lane road, the coach trail, slowly up the hill, in and out of each deep gully and above a frightening scree slope. This part now three good lanes wide with a passing lane, was then narrow in the extreme. Blind corner followed blind corner and although I don't recall meeting any traffic, my father blew the car horn assiduously at each. I had learned that every motorist did this. The horns then had noise and purpose, in contrast with today's almost purposeless peepers.


It wasn't until nearer the top that we met the great body of workers with their picks, barrows and shovels. As we bounced round the bend there was a great gasp, the road, although still very rough, was now two lanes wide. "So this is what it's going to be like!" cried my mother.





I realise now that by working down the road the workmen had the help of gravity when wheeling their loads to fill out the bends. I assume gelignite and perhaps even petrol-engined compressor drills were used, but their work must have entailed moving many thousands of barrowloads, as 15 or 16 were needed to shift even one loose cubic yard. I wonder how those men felt about the suddenly de-valued labour they had given to the road when bulldozers first arrived in Nelson, about three of four years later.


On the other side of the hill the coach road descended through the bush in short steps, with many bends until, near the bottom, we found another workers' camp crowded along a gully. Smoke from corrugated iron chimneys indicated that womenfolk were at this camp too.


With regular frequency we splashed through fords for which diamond shaped motoring signs had been erected. The first in bold black on yellow background said 
Caution while the second said 
Water-Course. These words were among the first I ever learned to read. I gave myself the task of spotting them, reading the message aloud and waiting for the splash, with the car grinding slowly in low gear, and being tested by some of the bigger, rougher crossings. I recall we had one deep ford with a soft bottom which almost held us and I identified it, many years later, beside a bridge at Okaramio.


Beyond Blenheim was the striking tussock country, a new experience, and then we enjoyed the rollers pounding in on the East Coast. At Kaikoura the road trailed through the town and past a park with arches of baleen whale jawbones, but the best was yet to come.


South by the sea coast again, the road soon wound along the cliffs where it was often but a narrow ledge cut into them. Here we came to the first great delight, a tunnel, and my first experience of ever travelling through one. The raucous horn was startling as we proceeded slowly through. The second delight came not much later, after crossing the first Hundalee Hill, in the shadows of an ending day. This was a delightful camping spot in bush just off the road, by the clear, clean Okarahia Stream.


It was as if no one had ever stopped there before. Primus lit, a meal followed, my parents' car bed was made up, and my uncle and I slept outside under a simple, room-like awning attached to the Rugby. In the fine warm evening it was idyllic and we went to sleep with a ruru calling for more pork. Now the place is much changed. There is no little bridge, only a wide sweeping road over a big culvert, with cars swishing by. The campsite is still there, but a much littered scene of desolation. Most trees are 

gone and there is a road-gravel dump beside it, but for me it will always be remembered as I first saw it.


After leaving Okarahia the road slowly but progressively improved, and we reached Christchurch in the afternoon, our approach being announced by a concrete road, smooth except for the bump, bump, of wheels crossing the joins between the slabs. This concrete innovation of the great depression time has since disappeared from Christchurch, and also from another place where I experienced it 30 years later, at Drury near Auckland, before arrival of the motorway.


A second reason for going to Christchurch was to visit my sister who was at teachers' training college, having had to move from Wellington when the slump closed the teachers' colleges there and in Dunedin after her first of two years. That re-union, seeing my uncle to his ship and enjoying the big city, especially the double decker trams, made for a satisfied return to Nelson. This time we had two lady passengers, friends we knew from our street. It was uneventful apart from three things.


The first was at Waipara, where we bounced across the wide, braided river bed, trying to follow the few vehicle tracks in order to find the road at the far bank. We were misled by some that led us to the left and onto the road west to Culverden and beyond. Signposting, before the AA took it in hand, was often meagre, but we were soon back on the right route north. It was shorter and more direct than the inland route through Waiau, if that had been passable. The opening of the road over the Lewis Pass was still five years away.


The second little bit of excitement came north of Kaikoura, on a straight near Hapuka. The day was warm and the side-curtains, celluloid that had turned amber and become almost opaque, were removed for the view and fresh air. (Later they were changed to clear glass, with a little triangular flap by the driver to allow arm signals). This was pleasant when the car was going at its normal cruising speed of about 30 miles (50 km) per hour.


Our passengers were wearing big, wide-brimmed hats and suddenly a hat flew out and bowled back down the road, running on its brim edge. My father turned the car, followed and collected the hat successfully, except that he stopped the engine in the process and it would not start again, apparently through battery trouble.


We waited and, before long, a Model T with two cheerful young men hove into sight. They stopped and asked if they could help, as all motorists did 

in those days. A tow soon had our engine running, and on we went. It was not long, however, before we came across them again, with their Model T stuck in the middle of a ford. This stream, unlike the majority, had a small bridge, a typical narrow, wooden structure with no sides, probably built there because of 'soft bottom' problems. We went across it, backed down, and pulled the Ford out of the ford.


With much laughter and waving they were off again, and we completed the day at, I think, Rakautara, a railway construction camp with wooden huts sitting vacant. It may have been that construction of the Picton to Christchurch line had been halted by the slump, as happened on the Nelson line where the halt was final. There was a caretaker staff who hired the huts to travellers, and our party took two.


In the early evening we watched men walking out on a long reef exposed by the tide and using drop nets to catch crayfish, clearly successfully. As we stood watching, a lad who lived on site enthusiastically gave me impromptu instruction on how to tell the time. He produced his own big, shining, pocket watch and I decided he must be rich, unlike many at that time. Perhaps riches came from crayfish, for there appeared to be quite a trade. My father bought a big sackful of them, freshly cooked, which he tied on the very top of the carrier load in the morning.


We must have had another tow start to leave and, when we reached Blenheim, we pulled into a central town garage which I later knew as Dix's. (I bought my first car, a new 12 HP Vauxhall Wyvern, from it 17 years later and decommissioned my push-bike). With a new battery installed, we arrived safely back home in Nelson to a warm reception, especially after the bulging sack was espied.


Depression and war were not times for travel, and it was to be another 12 years before I again saw Christchurch, but no trip to it has ever had a road as rough, a pace as slow, or enjoyment as great as the first.
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Published by the author Jack Boyer, 4 Clouston Tce, Nelson. 109p. 2000. $25.95


This is a no frills book, both in its writing and presentation. Jack Boyer, now 90, was a young man when he and his brother Stan decided to seek their fortunes on the Collingwood gold fields. Although this was during the Great Depression of the 1930s, the brothers, unlike many who moved to the old gold mining areas of New Zealand, were not unemployed. Jack had a secure job with the Post & Telegraph Department and Stan's skills as a plumber were still sought after. In fact when they arrived in the Aorere Valley the locals were somewhat amazed that any one employed would leave for the rough life on the gold fields. However, for Jack it was not a question of financial security but getting away from the dull routine which went with it. What inspired them to go to Collingwood was an old miner who told Jack that there was plenty of gold for the taking in the Rocky. The river's very name does not seem to have raised any doubts in the young would-be miner.




There's Gold in Rocky chronicles the brothers' attempts at mining from when, one February morning in 1933, they stepped off the ferry in Nelson and made their way by bus to Bainham. It describes their purchasing of stores, establishing camps, learning how to cross flooded rivers, lighting fires in the rain, blasting boulders and all the other skills required of an alluvial miner. With a wry sense of humour, Stan nailed to a tree as they abandoned their first claim a notice proclaiming "Boyer's Mistake". Areas that were well known in the 1850s and 1860s such as Brandy Point, Devil's Hill and Manrope, were assessed. Nor does Jack ignore their contacts with others, whether they were men like themselves seeking gold, or the farming community comprising the James, Graham, Pomeroy and other families in the Bainham area. Some of the farmers and their wives were also at times supplementing their incomes from mining. What comes through in Jack's writings is the high degree of co-operation between everyone in the Aorere Valley. His book also provides a timely reminder that the 1930s was still within an era when neighbours kept a friendly eye on each other. Nor was anything wasted and, unlike in our present consumer orientated society, recycling was accepted practise. Hand in hand with this was the relative simplicity of everyday living, whether it be farmer or miner, in an area that was then exceedingly remote. His recollections exemplify this and include a farmer's wife quizzing Stan Boyer as to the latest in bathroom decor in New Plymouth, or the brothers being 

invited into homes of farmers for meals followed by an evening game of cards in which the whole family participated.


The book covers activities such as the trading of machinery that would assist them in their search for gold or deciding on where to prospect next, with the latter largely depending on which of the stories of the "old timers" appeared the most credible. Each new campsite was chosen with care. Some camps were idyllic, such as in summer beside the Aorere, whereas high in the mountains they had snow for company. Trials and tribulations were relatively few; the ever-present sandflies at lower altitudes, blow flies in the Slate River that converted uncovered blankets to a seething mass of maggots in record time, and thieving wekas. Jack confirms the lore of the bush that in making weka stew a rock is added and, when ready, the bird is discarded. On one trip, when almost out of supplies and nearly starving, the prospectors found boiled weka inedible. Hunting trips proved relaxing and enjoyable interludes. Undoubtedly the freedom to do what they liked and work when they wished gave the brothers great satisfaction. In this they were probably more fortunate than their predecessors on the gold fields, for if a claim was not worked it could legally be jumped by others. But in those early days there was far more gold for the taking than the Boyers could ever hope for. Nevertheless there were times when a bit more than a few colours gleamed in the gold dish or in the ripples of the sluice box. The thrill of these occasions, along with the great expectations during the opening up of a claim, comes through in Jack's writings. Although largely unsaid, what is readily apparent is that the initial rush of miners had left little gold for the likes of Jack and his brother. The recovery of what gold was there had to wait for the wet suit and suction pumps of the 1970s.


Despite becoming proficient miners and adopting a methodical approach to the long and hard work mandatory in developing a claim they found, as had many miners before and since, that back breaking effort did not guarantee a profitable return. Only in their last claim, in the headwaters of the Snow River, did they find a piece of ground unworked by the Snow brothers and other miners of the 1850s. On this claim they bestowed the name of "Boyer's Jackpot", even though the amount of gold recovered was relatively modest. It is a pity that the Boyers did not have the same opportunities as their forebears who rushed the Slate and Rocky rivers in the late 1850s. If they had they would certainly have done well. While largely missing out on the golden returns, the brothers certainly enjoyed their years on the gold fields and Jack, and a number of his fellow miners, went on to work on the Cobb Power Scheme.





The book is a low cost production. The down side to this is a loss of clarity in photographs that were probably, by today's standards, not all that sharp to begin with. It is a book that recounts the adventures of two young men in what was then still largely a wilderness. It is also a valuable record of an era where farmers and miners alike relied largely on their own resources or those that could be obtained from the land, be it gold, firewood and timber from the nearby forests, or the grass which replaced the trees. Such activities required little capital but considerable physical exertion.





Mike Johnston
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It is well known that Abel Tasman, and his fellow sailors on the 
Heemskerck and 
Zeehaen, briefly sailed into New Zealand waters in 1642 and to many he is credited as the "discoverer" of this country. Although the Maori had settled in New Zealand several hundred years prior to this, and other Europeans may have preceded Tasman, it was this voyage that ensured that New Zealand, or at least its western shoreline, was placed on maps of the world. Grahame Anderson has long been fascinated with Tasman's voyage into the southern oceans and he is arguably the first to appreciate the important role played by the cartographer and illustrator of the voyage, Isaac Gilsemans "the merchant of the Zeehaen". While the author initially in this book set out to document Gilsemans' achievements, he found that this could not be done without extensive reference to Tasman and the Dutch East India Company that sponsored the voyage. The outcome is a fascinating book that attractively presents the voyage of 1642–3 in its proper historical, social and nautical context.


In a somewhat unusual style, which chronicles the author's own learning curve about Tasman and his contemporaries, Grahame Anderson has also assessed what others have had to say on this subject, coupled with a great deal of detective work. Historical research is like completing a jigsaw puzzle where many of the pieces are missing. The author has set out to obtain as many pieces as possible by locating and then deciphering manuscripts, most of which were not written in English, in Dutch and other archives, rather than relying on historical English translations that may be potentially biased.


The Dutch Republic was born out of the almost continuous warfare that raged between the countries of Europe. While religion was always to the fore in these wars, trade was, even if not always stated, the dominant factor. For any country with limited physical resources, such as the Netherlands, human ingenuity had to be both recognised and nurtured. In maritime matters the Dutch were at the forefront of ship design and navigation. The destruction of the Spanish Armada in 1588 opened trading opportunities for Dutch merchants and the Dutch East India Company was founded.


The company did not act hastily and all of its operations, including voyages of discovery, were soundly planned. For a number of years the company 

had been exploring the northwest Pacific, including one voyage that had involved Abel Tasman, Isaac Gilsemans and navigator Francoijs Visscher to Japanese waters. In 1642 these three men were aboard the 
Heemskerck and 
Zeehaen which sailed from Batavia (Jakarta) to explore the southern oceans. In particular the men were instructed to discover and chart the coast of the postulated great southern continent or Staten Land.


The 
Heemskerck and 
Zeehaen sailed to Mauritius and thence into the southern Indian Ocean before pursuing an easterly heading. No land was sighted until the southern coast of Tasmania hove into view. Named Anthony Van Diemen's Land by Tasman, its southern coast was charted and Gilsemans drew panoramas of the shore. From Tasmania prevailing westerly winds drove the ships across the Tasman Sea before their path was blocked, on 14 December 1642, by the rugged mountain backed shores of the West Coast at Punakaiki. On board the 
Zeehaen Isaac Gilsemans was to record for posterity panoramas of the coast. As the ships progressed northwards, parallel to the coast, smoke was observed in the vicinity of Whanganui Inlet and clearly signalled to those on board that they were not the first arrivals to Staten Land. After rounding Cape Farewell the ships, in an absence of westerly swells and winds, slowly cruised along the outer edge of the great hook of sand of Farewell Spit, which Tasman named after Visscher. On 18 December the ships entered the sheltered waters behind the spit.


All of this had not gone unnoticed on shore where the Ngati Tumatakokiri would have soon become aware of the ships, the size of which they had never seen before, as they rounded the end of the spit and slowly, but irrevocably, advanced towards the fortified villages of Taupo Point. The leisurely approach of the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen gave the Ngati Tumatakokiri ample time to marshal their forces and discuss means of repulsing the visitors whose presence was, until shown otherwise, assumed to be hostile. That evening two wakas approached the anchored ships but, not surprisingly, meaningful dialogue between the two races was not accomplished. The blowing of conch shell trumpets, while failing to banish the visitors, did establish that they were humans and not spirits. The next day nine wakas were paddled out towards the ships and the warriors in one of them made a lightning attack on a ship's boat making from the 
Zeehaen to the 
Hemskerck, which resulted in the death of four Dutchmen. Tasman, under orders not to harm either the inhabitants of any lands he came across, or their property, refrained from serious retaliation. Instead, after bestowing the name of Murderers Bay on their charts, the Dutch resumed their voyage northwards along the shores of Staten Land.





After sailing across Tasman Bay the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen anchored in what is now Admiralty Bay where Gilsemans drew yet another panorama of the shore. Because of prevailing westerly winds Tasman did not enter Raukawa (Cook Strait), whose presence he suspected, and instead the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen tacked up the west coast of the North Island. The continuing onshore winds forced the ships to keep well out to sea, before taking their leave of New Zealand waters at Cape Maria Van Dieman and the Three Kings Islands without the Dutch ever landing on Staten Land. Nor were they to return. Apparently Staten Land was too distant and the Dutch had ample trading opportunities in their Far Eastern empire. In addition the eastern coast of this supposedly vast continent sighted off Tierra del Fuego in 1616 was shown, in the same year as Tasman's returned to Batavia, to be a small island. With doubt about Staten Land now gaining ascendancy, Tasman's discovery was renamed Nieuw Zeeland as a consort to the Australian landmass of Nieuw Holland.


While Visscher was able to make an accurate chart of the west coast of New Zealand, the exact track of the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen was, until recently, to remain in doubt. Although Visscher, and other navigators of his time, could determine latitude with precision, longitude was considerably more problematical. It was not until the development of the chronometer by John Harrison, a century after Tasman, that explorers like James Cook were able to accurately locate longitude. Using the charts and the journals of the voyage of the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen, and making trips on yachts and fishing boats, the author identified where the ships anchored in Golden Bay and off D'Urville Island. Of particular assistance in this task were Gilsemans' coastal panoramas. These panoramas are not, as many have assumed, crude sketches. Instead they accurately portray the coast as seen from the ships and were done as a navigational tool for those who would follow. As well as identifying the features in these first drawings of New Zealand, Grahame Anderson was able to replot the course of the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen through New Zealand waters.


As well as giving a balanced account of Tasman's voyage, and in particular the fatal encounter with the Ngati Tumatakokiri in what is now Golden Bay, the author has provided an explanation as to why Tasman did not make more of an effort to land. The 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen, despite being for their time, of advanced design were difficult to sail directly into the wind. Tasman was not only a prudent sailor but, unlike on naval vessels, his actions could be constrained by a ships' council. Thus with the prevailing westerlies, a mostly forbidding and rocky shore, hostile inhabitants and no obvious riches worthy of exploitation it is perhaps not surprising that the 

ships kept well offshore. What is more puzzling is why Tasman, on reaching Cape Maria Van Dieman, did not turn eastwards to investigate. If he had done so then his Staten Land would soon have been shown to be two relatively small islands in the vastness of the South Pacific Ocean. Instead the ships continued north to Tonga.


The 
Merchant of the Zeehaen is profusely illustrated with a variety of relevant maps, drawings and paintings. Unfortunately a number of the illustrations have been so reduced as to make it difficult to discern what they are portraying. This is particularly so for the modern New Zealand charts which have had the course of the 
Hemskerck and 
Zeehaen plotted on them, along with annotations by the author. These charts should have made the text all that more easy and enjoyable to read and it is disappointing that they are virtually indecipherable. On the other hand specially drawn maps are clear and concise, giving the reader locations of key places mentioned in connection with Tasman's travels in the Far East and the Pacific. Despite these faults, this is well-written and adequately indexed book that undoubtedly provides an in-depth and balanced account of Tasman's voyage and the events leading up to it. It also does much to redress the past rather erroneous representation of both Tasman and his charting of western New Zealand. It is a book that deserves to be read and will be of considerable appeal to everyone interested in Golden and Tasman Bays.





Mike Johnston.
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